Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 9, 2020 ACCEPTED: May 15, 2020 PUBLISHED: June 9, 2020

Spinor-helicity formalism for massless fields in AdS₄. Part II. Potentials

Balakrishnan Nagaraj^a and Dmitry Ponomarev^{b,c}

E-mail: nbala1090@gmail.com, ponomarev@lpi.ru

ABSTRACT: In a recent letter we suggested a natural generalization of the flat-space spinorhelicity formalism in four dimensions to anti-de Sitter space. In the present paper we give some technical details that were left implicit previously. For lower-spin fields we also derive potentials associated with the previously found plane-wave solutions for field strengths. We then employ these potentials to evaluate some three-point amplitudes. This analysis illustrates a typical computation of an amplitude without internal lines in our formalism.

KEYWORDS: Higher Spin Symmetry, Scattering Amplitudes, AdS-CFT Correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 1912.07494



^a George P. and Cynthia W. Mitchell Institute for Fundamental Physics and Astronomy, Texas A&M University, University Drive, College Station, TX 77843, U.S.A.

^bInstitute for Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Lomonosovsky avenue, Moscow, 119991, Russia

^cI.E. Tamm Theory Department, Lebedev Physical Institute, Leninsky avenue, Moscow, 119991, Russia

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	 Spinor-helicity representation in flat space 2.1 Plane-wave solutions 2.2 Amplitudes from space-time integrals 2.3 Amplitudes from symmetries 	3 4 6 7
3	Massless representations in AdS_4	8
4	AdS_4 geometry	9
5	Plane waves for field strengths	11
6	Plane waves for potentials6.1Spin 16.2Spin $\frac{3}{2}$ 6.2.1Fixing an ansatz6.2.2Solving for potentials6.3Spin 26.4Higher-spin potentials	14 15 16 16 17 18 19
7	Scattering amplitudes from space-time integrals7.1Simple examples7.2Genuine three-point amplitudes7.2.1Spin $0 - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{2}$ amplitude7.2.2Spin $0 - 0 - 2$ amplitude	 19 20 21 22 23
8	Three-point amplitudes from symmetries	25
9	Helicity-changing operators	26
10	Conclusion and outlook	2 8
A	Notations and conventions	30
в	AdS_4 and spinors	32
С	Details on spin $\frac{3}{2}$ potential	3 4
D	Details on spin 2 potential	36
\mathbf{E}	Details on amplitudes from symmetries	37

1 Introduction

In recent years significant progress was achieved in amplitudes' computations as well as in understanding of various hidden structures underlying them. This is especially true for theories of massless particles in four dimensions. For these theories one can choose convenient kinematic variables that lead to what is known as the spinor-helicity formalism. This formalism allows to compute amplitudes efficiently and produces them in an extremely compact form. This is typically illustrated by the Parke-Taylor formula [1], which gives a single-term expression for a tree-level MHV n-point amplitude in the Yang-Mills theory. The spinor-helicity formalism also fits together nicely with other techniques used for amplitudes' computations. For review on modern amplitude methods and on the spinor-helicity formalism, see [2–4]. The success of the spinor-helicity formalism for theories of massless particles in four dimensions motivated its various extensions — to other dimensions [5–9] and to massive fields [10–13].

Another line of research that led to important developments in recent years is the AdS/CFT correspondence. It is a conjectured duality between gravitational theories in AdS space and conformal theories on its boundary [14-16]. The AdS/CFT correspondence provides us with new tools to address important problems of quantum gravity and strongly coupled systems. On the AdS side perturbative observables are computed by Witten diagrams, which can be regarded as the AdS counterpart of flat scattering amplitudes. These diagrams can be expressed in different representations: in terms of boundary coordinates that label external lines, in terms of the associated Fourier or Mellin space variables or presented in the form of the conformal block decomposition, see [17-28] for a far from complete list of references. Each of these representations has its own virtues and for each of them major progress was achieved in recent years. In particular, more efficient methods of computing Witten diagrams were developed, relation between the analytic structure and types of amplitudes were understood, it was found how to take the flat-space limit of Witten diagrams, thus, reproducing the associated flat scattering amplitudes. Moreover, these results can be extended to dS space producing de Sitter space correlators, which, in turn, are closely related to inflationary correlators, see e.g. [29-33]. Despite these successes, the aforementioned approaches typically require one to deal with complicated expressions, that involve various special functions. Moreover, the analysis further complicates for spinning fields due to proliferation of tensor indices. This begs the question: is there any natural generalization of the spinor-helicity formalism to AdS space, which allows to deal with amplitudes of massless fields as efficiently as in flat space?

Additional motivation to address this question is related to higher-spin theories. It was discovered recently [11, 34] that the spinor-helicity formalism allows to construct additional consistent cubic amplitudes compared to those available within the framework that employs Lorentz tensors. This observation is based on the comparison of two classifications available in both approaches. Moreover, it turns out that the associated cubic vertices are crucial for consistency of higher-spin interactions in flat space [35, 36].¹ In particular, these are

¹These results were obtained employing the light-cone deformation procedure, which is closely connected to the spinor-helicity formalism [37–39].

present in chiral higher-spin theories [40-42] — cubic theories of massless higher-spin fields, which are consistent to all orders in interactions [40], see also [43] for a related earlier result.

At the same time, the AdS/CFT correspondence implies the existence of higher-spin theories in AdS space — holographic duals of free O(N) vector models and similar simple theories [44, 45].² One may wonder how these theories are related to chiral theories in flat space. To be able to answer this question, it is important to develop an approach, that would bridge the gap between the light-cone formulation of chiral theories in flat space and the usual covariant language in AdS space, which is typically used in holography. This approach can then be used to generalize chiral higher-spin theories to AdS space and study their place in the holographic duality. It is also interesting to understand what happens with the additional vertices provided by the flat-space spinor-helicity formalism in AdS space. Their presence may play an important role not only in higher-spin theories, but in a wider context. For example, it would be interesting to understand whether the associated three-point correlators can appear in conformal field theories or, more generally, whether the spinor-helicity representation can facilitate the analysis of the crossing equations that involve spinning operators.

In a recent letter [52] we suggested a natural generalization of the spinor-helicity formalism to AdS_4 .³ This approach is based on the standard realization of the isometry algebra so(3, 2) of AdS_4 in terms of differential operators acting on $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ spinors. By employing this representation, we first found the AdS counterpart of plane waves for field strengths. These solutions were then used to compute simplest amplitudes. Next, by employing the symmetry arguments similar to those used in [54] in flat space, we classified three-point amplitudes of massless spinning fields in AdS₄. As was expected, the spinor-helicity approach allows to construct amplitudes, that cannot be represented in terms of Lorentz tensors. This result is consistent with a recent analysis in the light-cone gauge [55, 56].

In the present paper we give technical details that were left implicit in [52]. Moreover, we expand these results in one important way. Namely, we show how our previous analysis can be extended to include the potentials of gauge fields. First, we find the plane-wave solutions in terms of potentials. Unlike plane-wave solutions for field strengths, these cannot be obtained simply by applying Weyl transformations to flat space solutions, because the description of massless fields in four dimensions in terms of potentials is not conformally invariant for spin greater than one. We work out in detail spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ and spin-2 cases and then comment on potentials of any spin. Next, we use these potentials to evaluate simple three-point amplitudes. Unlike amplitudes we computed previously, for which essential simplification occurred due to conformal invariance of the associated vertices or due to the possibility to express them in terms of field strengths, in the present paper we deal with the cases, in which no such simplifications occur. These examples, thus, illustrate a genuine computation of a three-point amplitude using the spinor-helicity formalism in AdS₄.

²An independent bulk formulation of higher-spin theories was proposed in [46, 47]. For recent discussions of this approach, see [48–51].

³A different version of the spinor-helicity formalism in (A)dS₄ was suggested in [29]. Though this formalism has its own virtues, in some aspects it departs from the spinor-helicity formalism in flat space. In particular, it does not make the Lorentz symmetry manifest, instead, employing so(3)-spinors. More recent related results can be found in [53].

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we review the ingredients of the spinor-helicity formalism in flat space, that will be generalized to AdS space later. Then, in section 3 we review the twisted adjoint representation — a representation for massless fields in AdS₄, which is realized in terms of differential operators, that act on $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ spinors. In the following section we introduce the necessary objects of the AdS background geometry. Then, in section 5 we derive plane-wave solutions for field strengths. Next, in section 6 we discuss how the spinor-helicity formalism in AdS space should be extended to include potentials and derive the associated solutions for lower-spin cases. In section 7 we use previously derived plane waves to compute amplitudes by the direct evaluation of bulk integrals. In the next section we classify three-point amplitudes employing symmetry considerations. In section 9 we discuss how different amplitudes can be generated one from another by applying helicity-changing operators. Finally, we conclude in section 10 as well as discuss further open problems. The paper has a number of appendices, in which we collect our notations and present various technical results.

2 Spinor-helicity representation in flat space

In this section we review some aspects of the spinor-helicity formalism in flat space, that will be later extended to AdS space. More details can be found in [2-4].

Massless representation of the four-dimensional Poincare algebra can be realized as

$$\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\beta} = i \left(\lambda_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda^{\beta}} + \lambda_{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda^{\alpha}} \right),
\bar{\mathcal{J}}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = i \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}}} + \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}} \right),
\mathcal{P}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}},$$
(2.1)

where λ_{α} is an $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$ spinor and $\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ is its complex conjugate. These spinors are related to real massless momenta by the standard vector-spinor dictionary

$$p^2 = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad p_a = -\frac{1}{2} (\sigma_a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \lambda_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}},$$
 (2.2)

where σ_{μ} are the Pauli matrices. To make three-point amplitudes non-vanishing, one allows momenta to be complex. In this case λ_{α} and $\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ are independent. Below we will use the vector-spinor dictionary quite extensively. A brief review of this dictionary and related conventions are given in appendix A.

It is not hard to see that the helicity operator

$$H \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}} - \lambda_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_{\alpha}} \right)$$
(2.3)

commutes with the generators of the Poincare algebra (2.1). This implies that the representation space — that is the space of functions $f(\lambda, \bar{\lambda})$ of λ and $\bar{\lambda}$ on which operators (2.1) act — can be split into a direct sum of representations with a definite value of H. These representations turn out to be irreducible. The value of operator H on these representations gives their helicity

$$H = h, \qquad 2h \in \mathbb{Z}. \tag{2.4}$$

2.1 Plane-wave solutions

To give these representations a space-time interpretation one introduces plane waves. These can be regarded as intertwining kernels between the spinor-helicity (2.1) and space-time representations of the Poincare algebra

$$\mathcal{P}_a = -i\frac{\partial}{\partial x^a}, \qquad \mathcal{J}_{ab} = -i\left(x_a\frac{\partial}{\partial x^b} - x_b\frac{\partial}{\partial x^a}\right),$$
(2.5)

the latter being generated by the algebra of Killing vector fields of the Minkowski space-time.

To start, we consider plane waves for field strengths. These are gauge invariant and simpler to find. For a particular helicity $2h = n \ge 0$, we solve for field strength's plane waves in the form

$$F_{\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_n} = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_1}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_n}f(x,\lambda,\bar{\lambda}).$$
(2.6)

The prefactor on the right-hand side of (2.6) consisting of the *n*-fold product of spinors $\bar{\lambda}$ was introduced to saturate the homogeneity degree of F in λ and $\bar{\lambda}$ as required by (2.3), (2.4). Lorentz covariance requires that f may only depend on combinations of λ , $\bar{\lambda}$ and x with all indices contracted covariantly. In other words,

$$f(x,\lambda,\bar{\lambda}) = d(a,b), \qquad a \equiv \lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad b \equiv x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}x^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha},$$
 (2.7)

where d is a new unknown function. Finally, we require that the action of translations on plane waves agrees in the spinor-helicity and the space-time representations

$$-i(\sigma^a)_{\beta\dot{\beta}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^a}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_1}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_n}d(a,b) = \lambda_\beta\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_1}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_n}d(a,b).$$
(2.8)

This leads to the familiar formula

$$F_{\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_n} = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_1}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_n} e^{-\frac{i}{2}x^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}\lambda_\alpha\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}}.$$
(2.9)

Plane-wave solutions for field strengths with negative helicities can be derived analogously.

Once field strengths are known, one can find the potentials. For bosonic fields these are related by [57-59]

$$F_{a_1b_1,\dots,a_hb_h} = \partial_{a_1}\dots\partial_{a_h}\varphi_{b_1\dots b_h} + \dots, \qquad (2.10)$$

where $\varphi_{a_1...a_h}$ is a totally symmetric tensor and ... denotes 2h - 1 terms to be added to make the expression antisymmetric in each pair of indices $\{a_i, b_i\}$. For a fixed field strength (2.10) defines the potential up to gauge transformations

$$\delta\varphi_{a_1\dots a_h} = \partial_{a_1}\xi_{a_2\dots a_h} + \dots, \qquad (2.11)$$

where ξ is totally symmetric and ... denotes terms that make the right-hand side totally symmetric.

In the spinor-helicity formalism, for a field strength given by (2.9) one solves (2.10) for the potential as

$$\varphi_{a_1\dots a_h} = \varepsilon_{a_1}^+ \dots \varepsilon_{a_h}^+ e^{-\frac{i}{2}x^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}\lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where ε^+ is a polarization vector

$$\varepsilon_a^+ \equiv -\frac{i}{2} \frac{(\sigma_a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \mu_\alpha \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}}{\mu^\beta \lambda_\beta},\tag{2.13}$$

defined in terms of an auxiliary spinor μ . It is not hard to show that changes of μ correspond to gauge transformations.

The potential (2.12) has a list of remarkable properties: it is traceless

$$\eta^{ab}\varepsilon^+_a\varepsilon^+_b = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \varphi^b{}_{ba_3\dots a_h} = 0, \tag{2.14}$$

divergence-free

$$\partial^b \varphi_{ba_2\dots a_h} = 0 \tag{2.15}$$

and obeys

$$q^b \varphi_{ba_2...a_h} = 0, \qquad q_a \equiv -\frac{1}{2} (\sigma_a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \mu_{\alpha} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (2.16)

Considering that q is null, (2.15) can be regarded as the generalized light-cone gauge condition with the only difference that in the spinor-helicity formalism we are free to change q arbitrarily. The potential (2.12), in fact, satisfies

$$\mu^{\beta}(\sigma^{b})_{\beta\dot{\beta}}\varphi_{ba_{2}\dot{a}_{h}} = 0, \qquad (2.17)$$

which is a stronger version of (2.16).

For fermionic fields the field strength is defined by

$$F_{\dot{\alpha}|a_1b_1,\dots,a_{h-1}b_{h-1}} = \partial_{a_1}\dots\partial_{a_{n-1}}\varphi_{\dot{\alpha}|b_1\dots b_{h-1}} + \dots, \qquad (2.18)$$

where ... make the right-hand side antisymmetric in $\{a_i, b_i\}$ and φ is a totally symmetric spin-tensor in vector indices. Gauge transformations then read

$$\delta\varphi_{\dot{\alpha}|a_1\dots a_{h-1}} = \partial_{a_1}\xi_{\dot{\alpha}|a_2\dots a_{h-1}} + \dots, \qquad (2.19)$$

where ξ is totally symmetric in vector indices and ... make the right-hand side totally symmetric. Finally, the plane-wave solution (2.9) in terms of the potential reads

$$\varphi_{\dot{\alpha}|a_1\dots a_{h-1}} = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \varepsilon^+_{a_1} \dots \varepsilon^+_{a_{h-1}} e^{-\frac{i}{2}x^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}\lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}}.$$
(2.20)

Besides being traceless on vector indices, this potential is also σ -traceless in the sense that

$$(\sigma^b)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}\varphi_{\dot{\alpha}|ba_2...a_{h-1}} = 0. \tag{2.21}$$

It also satisfies conditions analogous to (2.15)-(2.17).

For negative helicity fields one uses the complex conjugate of (2.13) as a polarization vector.

2.2 Amplitudes from space-time integrals

Using the standard Feynman rules, with the external lines represented by the plane-wave solutions we reviewed above, we can obtain the spinor-helicity representation of any amplitude. Below we illustrate this with a simple example of a cubic vertex

$$S_3 = \int d^4x \psi_{\mu|\alpha} (\partial^\mu \chi^\alpha \phi - \chi^\alpha \partial^\mu \phi) + \text{c.c.}, \qquad (2.22)$$

where c.c. refers to the complex conjugate term, ψ , χ and ϕ are massless spin- $\frac{3}{2}$, spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ and spin-0 fields respectively.

It is not hard to see that (2.22) is invariant with respect to spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ gauge transformations provided free equations of motion are taken into account

$$\Box \chi^{\alpha} \approx 0, \qquad \Box \phi \approx 0. \tag{2.23}$$

This, in turn, implies that (2.22) can be made gauge invariant up to higher orders in fields, once ϕ and χ transform appropriately with the gauge transformations of ψ . In other words, (2.22) is a consistent vertex to the leading order in interactions.

By substituting the plane-wave solutions into the first term in (2.22) we find the amplitude

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left(-\frac{3}{2},-\frac{1}{2},0\right) = \frac{1}{2}\int d^{4}x e^{ip\cdot x} \frac{\langle 12\rangle}{[1\mu]} \left(\langle 12\rangle [\mu 2] - \langle 13\rangle [\mu 3]\right) = \frac{(2\pi)^{4}}{2} \frac{\langle 12\rangle}{[1\mu]} \left(\langle 12\rangle [\mu 2] - \langle 13\rangle [\mu 3]\right) \delta^{4}(p),$$

$$(2.24)$$

where $p \equiv p_1 + p_2 + p_3$ is the total momentum.⁴ Next, we would like to eliminate μ -dependence, to make sure that the amplitude is gauge invariant. To this end we manipulate the first term in brackets as

$$\frac{\langle 12\rangle^2[\mu 2]}{[1\mu]}\delta^4(p) = \frac{\langle 12\rangle^2[\mu 2]\langle 23\rangle}{[1\mu]\langle 23\rangle}\delta^4(p) = -\frac{\langle 12\rangle^2[\mu 1]\langle 13\rangle}{[1\mu]\langle 23\rangle}\delta^4(p) = \frac{\langle 12\rangle^2\langle 13\rangle}{\langle 23\rangle}\delta^4(p).$$
(2.25)

In the second equality of (2.25) we used the momentum conservation in the form

$$|2]\langle 2| = -|1]\langle 1| - |3]\langle 3|.$$
(2.26)

The second term in (2.24) is treated similarly. Eventually, we end up with

$$\mathcal{A}_3\left(-\frac{3}{2},-\frac{1}{2},0\right) = (2\pi)^4 \frac{\langle 12\rangle^2 \langle 13\rangle}{\langle 23\rangle} \delta^4(p). \tag{2.27}$$

This example illustrates a typical computation of a three-point amplitude from the action. Higher-point amplitudes will not be discussed in the present paper.

⁴Though, the momentum-conserving delta function is not, usually, included in the definition of the amplitude, we do the opposite to facilitate the comparison with the AdS case.

2.3 Amplitudes from symmetries

Instead of computing amplitudes from the action, one can study constraints imposed on them by symmetry considerations. It turns out that at the level of three-point amplitudes, for a fixed triplet of helicities, the amplitude is fixed by symmetries up to an overall factor — a coupling constant [54]. We will use analogous arguments in AdS space later, so let us briefly review this analysis in flat space first.

To start, translation invariance

$$\left(\mathcal{P}_{1|\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}_{2|\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}_{3|\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\right)\mathcal{A} = 0 \tag{2.28}$$

implies

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{M} \ (2\pi)^4 \delta(P). \tag{2.29}$$

Lorentz invariance requires that all spinor indices are contracted into spinor products, hence,

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(\langle ij \rangle, [ij]). \tag{2.30}$$

Next, we further explore the structure of the right-hand side of (2.30).

Momentum conservation together with the on-shell conditions for three-point amplitudes imply $p_i \cdot p_j = 0$ for all pairs of particles, which in terms of spinors reads

$$\langle 12 \rangle [12] = 0, \qquad \langle 23 \rangle [23] = 0, \qquad \langle 31 \rangle [31] = 0.$$
 (2.31)

Clearly, this entails that at least two spinor products of the same type are vanishing. Let us assume that

$$\langle 12 \rangle = 0, \qquad \langle 23 \rangle = 0. \tag{2.32}$$

The spinor product $\langle ij \rangle$ vanishes iff $|i\rangle$ and $|j\rangle$ are parallel. Then (2.32) implies that $|1\rangle$ is parallel to $|2\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ is parallel to $|3\rangle$. Together this entails that $|1\rangle$ is parallel to $|3\rangle$ and

$$\langle 13 \rangle = 0. \tag{2.33}$$

Hence, we conclude that the kinematics of massless three-point amplitudes implies that at least one type of spinor products vanishes simultaneously for all pairs of particles. For real momenta [ij] = 0 implies $\langle ij \rangle = 0$ and vice versa. Then all spinor products vanish and \mathcal{M} can only be a constant. Taking into account (2.3), (2.4) one finds that this constant amplitude corresponds to three scalar fields, while all amplitudes for spinning fields are vanishing.

To have non-trivial amplitudes for spinning fields, one allows momenta to be complex. This leaves one with an option of setting either all $\langle ij \rangle$ to zero and leaving [ij] non-vanishing or vice versa. This, in turn, implies that \mathcal{M} splits into the holomorphic and antiholomorphic parts

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(\langle ij \rangle) + \mathcal{M}([ij]). \tag{2.34}$$

Finally, let us fix helicities h_i of particles on external lines. Helicity constraints (2.3), (2.4) on the fields carry over to the amplitude itself, so we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{\lambda}^{i}_{\dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}^{i}_{\dot{\alpha}}} - \lambda^{i}_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda^{i}_{\alpha}} \right) \mathcal{M}(h_{1}, h_{2}, h_{3}) = h_{i} \mathcal{M}(h_{1}, h_{2}, h_{3}), \qquad \forall i.$$
(2.35)

This implies

$$\mathcal{M}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = g_h [12]^{d_{12,3}} [23]^{d_{23,1}} [31]^{d_{31,2}} + g_a \langle 12 \rangle^{-d_{12,3}} \langle 23 \rangle^{-d_{23,1}} \langle 31 \rangle^{-d_{31,2}}, \qquad (2.36)$$

where g_h and g_a are two arbitrary coupling constants and

$$d_{12,3} \equiv h_1 + h_2 - h_3, \qquad d_{23,1} \equiv h_2 + h_3 - h_1, \qquad d_{31,2} \equiv h_3 + h_1 - h_2.$$
 (2.37)

By demanding that the amplitude is non-singular in the limit of real momenta we find

$$g_h = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad h < 0,$$

 $g_a = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad h > 0,$
(2.38)

where $h \equiv h_1 + h_2 + h_3$ is the total helicity.

To summarize, Poincare covariance implies that three-point amplitudes of massless particles are given by (2.29) with \mathcal{M} defined in (2.36). Moreover, when the total helicity is positive, only the antiholomorphic part may be non-vanishing, while for negative total helicity, only the holomorphic part can be non-trivial. In particular, when the total helicity is zero, both terms in (2.36) are allowed.

It is interesting to compare (2.38) with the analogous conditions found in the light-cone deformation procedure [35]. In the light-cone approach analogous conditions result from imposing locality and differ in one respect: vertices with the total helicity being zero require non-local boost generators, unless all helicities are vanishing. In other words, unlike the spinor-helicity approach, in the light-cone deformation procedure vertices with the total helicity zero are not admissible, unless all fields are scalars.⁵

3 Massless representations in AdS₄

In the following sections we will generalize the flat space discussion reviewed in the previous section to AdS_4 space. Our starting point is a deformation of (2.1) to AdS_4 space given by

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\beta} &= i \left(\lambda_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda^{\beta}} + \lambda_{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda^{\alpha}} \right), \\
\bar{\mathcal{J}}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} &= i \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}}} + \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}} \right), \\
\mathcal{P}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} &= \lambda_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{R^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}}.
\end{aligned}$$
(3.1)

It is not hard to check that the generators given above form the familiar algebra of isometries of AdS₄ with R being the AdS radius. As in flat space, all generators commute with the helicity operator (2.3), which allows us to split the representation space into subspaces with definite helicity. Moreover, it is straightforward to check that $h = \pm s$ have the right

 $^{^{5}}$ One can argue away these amplitudes in the spinor-helicity representation as well, but this requires to analyze consistency of higher-point functions [12].

values of the Casimir operators for a massless spin s representation. In particular, the value of the quadratic Casimir operator

$$\mathcal{C}_2(so(3,2)) \equiv \frac{1}{2} J_{AB} J^{AB} = \frac{R^2}{2} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \mathcal{P}_{\beta\dot{\beta}} + \frac{1}{4} \epsilon^{\alpha\delta} \epsilon^{\beta\rho} \mathcal{J}_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{J}_{\delta\rho} + \frac{1}{4} \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\delta}} \epsilon^{\dot{\beta}\dot{\rho}} \bar{\mathcal{J}}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \bar{\mathcal{J}}_{\dot{\delta}\dot{\rho}}, \quad (3.2)$$

where J_{AB} are the standard so(3,2) generators, for (3.1) is

$$C_2(so(3,2)) = 2(h^2 - 1).$$
 (3.3)

This realization of massless representations in AdS_4 is widely used in higher-spin theories and is often referred to as the twisted adjoint representation [60, 61].

4 AdS_4 geometry

Before moving to plane-wave solutions, let us first choose convenient coordinates and introduce the necessary elements of the background geometry.

For our purposes it will be helpful to make Lorentz symmetry manifest. For this reason we choose coordinates, that may be regarded as a generalization of the stereographic coordinates on a sphere to AdS space. To be more precise, one can start from the familiar description of AdS space as a hyperboloid

$$X^M X_M = -R^2, \qquad M = 0, 1, \dots, 4$$
 (4.1)

embedded into a five-dimensional space with flat metric diag(-1, 1, 1, 1, -1). By making the stereographic projection from (0, 0, 0, 0, -R) to $X^4 = 0$ hyperplane followed by a rescaling by a factor of two, we end up with new coordinates x^a , related to the ambient coordinates by

$$X^{a} = \frac{4x^{a}R^{2}}{4R^{2} - x^{2}}, \qquad X^{4} = R\frac{4R^{2} + x^{2}}{4R^{2} - x^{2}}, \tag{4.2}$$

$$x^a = \frac{2X^a}{1 + X^4/R}.$$
(4.3)

In these coordinates the metric reads

$$ds^2 = G^{-2} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}, \tag{4.4}$$

where

$$G \equiv 1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2} \tag{4.5}$$

and the AdS boundary is given by $x^2 = 4R^2$.

Stereographic projection (4.2), (4.3) maps $X^4 < -R$ to $x^2 > 4R^2$, $-R < X^4 < R$ to $x^2 < 0$ and $X^4 > R$ to $0 < x^2 < 4R^2$. We will refer to $x^2 < 4R^2$ and $x^2 > 4R^2$ as *inner* and *outer* patches respectively, while their union will be referred to as *global* AdS. For points of AdS space with $X^4 = -R$ the stereographic map degenerates: each generatrix of this cone maps to a point at infinity along a null direction in intrinsic coordinates, while genuine infinite points in intrinsic coordinates correspond to (0, 0, 0, 0, -R) in ambient space.

To deal with spinors in curved space one introduces a local Lorentz frame by means of the frame field

$$g_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu|}{}^{a} e_{\nu|}{}^{b} \eta_{ab}, \qquad \eta_{ab} = e^{\mu|}{}_{a} e^{\nu|}{}_{b} g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad e_{\mu|}{}^{a} e^{\nu|}{}_{b} = \delta^{a}_{b}.$$
(4.6)

Here μ is a one-form index, while a, b = 0, 1, 2, 3 are local Lorentz indices. We choose the local Lorentz basis to be

$$e_{\mu}|^{a} = G^{-1}\delta^{a}_{\mu}.$$
(4.7)

As usual, the frame field is used to convert tensor fields from the coordinate to the local Lorentz basis and back, e.g.

$$A^{a}_{\mu} = e_{\mu|}{}^{a}A^{\mu}, \qquad A^{\mu} = e^{\mu|}{}_{a}A^{a}.$$
(4.8)

Moreover, local Lorentz indices are raised and lowered using the Minkowskian metric η .

We will use the following notation for the covariant derivatives of space-time tensors

$$\nabla_{\nu} v_{\lambda} \equiv \partial_{\nu} v_{\lambda} - \Gamma_{\nu|}{}^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} v_{\rho}, \qquad \nabla_{\nu} v^{\lambda} \equiv \partial_{\nu} v^{\lambda} + \Gamma_{\nu|}{}^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} v^{\rho}, \tag{4.9}$$

where

$$\Gamma_{\nu|}{}^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2R^2} G^{-1} \left(x_{\nu} \delta^{\rho}_{\lambda} + x_{\lambda} \delta^{\rho}_{\nu} - x^{\rho} \eta_{\nu\lambda} \right)$$
(4.10)

are the Christoffel symbols for the torsion-free and metric-compatible connection. Covariant derivatives of Lorentz tensors are given by

$$\nabla_{\nu}v^{a} \equiv \partial_{\nu}v^{a} + \omega_{\nu|}{}^{a}{}_{b}v^{b}, \qquad \nabla_{\nu}v_{a} \equiv \partial_{\nu}v_{a} - \omega_{\nu|}{}^{b}{}_{a}v_{b} = \partial_{\nu}v_{a} + \omega_{\nu|a}{}^{b}v_{b}, \tag{4.11}$$

where ω is the spin connection. Metric compatibility requires that it is antisymmetric

$$0 = \nabla_{\nu} \eta_{ab} = \partial_{\nu} \eta_{ab} - \omega_{\nu|}{}^{c}{}_{,a} \eta_{cb} - \omega_{\nu|}{}^{c}{}_{,b} \eta_{ac} = -(\omega_{\nu|b,a} + \omega_{\nu|a,b}).$$
(4.12)

Moreover, one requires that the frame field is covariantly constant

$$0 = \nabla_{\nu} e_{\mu|}{}^{a} = \partial_{\nu} e_{\mu|}{}^{a} - \Gamma_{\nu|}{}^{\rho}{}_{\mu} e_{\rho|}{}^{a} + \omega_{\nu|}{}^{a}{}_{b} e_{\mu|}{}^{b}, \qquad (4.13)$$

or, in other words, covariant derivatives (4.9) and (4.11) are compatible. One can solve (4.13) for ω , which leads to

$$\omega_{c|a,d} \equiv e^{\mu|}{}_{c}\omega_{\mu|a,d} = \frac{1}{2R^{2}}(\eta_{ca}x_{d} - \eta_{cd}x_{a}).$$
(4.14)

The action of so(3,2) on space-time tensors is realized by properly normalized Lie derivatives along Killing vectors. For example, deformed translations act on scalars as

$$\mathcal{P}_{i}\varphi = -i\left(1 + \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)\delta_{i}^{\nu}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}}\varphi + i\frac{x_{i}}{2R^{2}}x^{\mu}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}}\varphi.$$
(4.15)

Isometries also act on local Lorentz indices. This action can be derived by requiring consistency of the action of the isometries on the space-time indices and relations like (4.8) that connect the two bases. Alternatively, one can notice that our choice of the frame

field (4.7) is not invariant under isometries unless diffeomorphisms are supplemented with the appropriate local Lorentz transformations. In particular, considering that the frame field is a one-form, deformed translations act on it as follows

$$(\mathcal{P}_i e)^a_\mu = -G^{-1} \frac{i}{2R^2} \left(x_\nu \delta^a_i - \eta_{i\nu} x^a \right).$$
(4.16)

To make the action of deformed translation consistent with our choice of the frame field, we must supplement them with local Lorentz transformations so that

$$(\mathcal{P}_i + \delta \mathcal{P}_i^{\mathrm{L}})e = 0. \tag{4.17}$$

This leads to

$$(\delta \mathcal{P}_{i}^{\mathrm{L}} v)^{a} = (\zeta_{i})^{a}{}_{b} v^{b}, \qquad (\zeta_{i})^{a}{}_{b} = \frac{i}{2R^{2}} (x_{b} \delta_{i}^{a} - \eta_{ib} x^{a}).$$
 (4.18)

Local Lorentz indices can be converted to local spinor ones using the standard vectorspinor dictionary. In particular, all formulae of this section can be translated to spinor notations. These can be found in appendix B.

5 Plane waves for field strengths

As in flat space, to connect representation (3.1) realized in terms of differential operators in $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ spinor space with the space-time fields, we need to find plane-wave solutions. These will serve as intertwining kernels between the spinor-helicity and the space-time representations.⁶ In this section we discuss plane-wave solutions for field strengths.

Let us consider helicity $h \ge 0$ field. Then, to saturate the homogeneity degree in spinor variables according to (2.3), (2.4), we consider an ansatz

$$F_{\dot{\gamma}_1\dots\dot{\gamma}_{2h}}(x,\lambda,\bar{\lambda}) = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_1}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{2h}}f(x,\lambda,\bar{\lambda}), \qquad (5.1)$$

where f has helicity zero. Next, Lorentz invariance requires that all spinor indices are covariantly contracted. This means that f can only depend on two scalars a and b, see (2.7). Finally, we have to require that deformed translations act consistently in the space-time and the spinor-helicity representations

$$\left(-i\left(1+\frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)(\sigma^{a})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\delta^{\mu}_{a}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}}+i(\sigma^{a})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\frac{x_{a}}{2R^{2}}x^{\mu}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}}+(\delta P^{L}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}})\right)\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{1}}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{2h}}d(a,b)$$

$$=\left(\lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}-\frac{1}{R^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}}\right)\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{1}}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{2h}}d(a,b).$$
(5.2)

Equation (5.2) has many components and for each of them it should be satisfied. Its independent components can be systematically found by taking λ_{α} , $(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha} \equiv x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ to be the basis for holomorphic spinors and $\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}$, $(x\lambda)_{\dot{\alpha}} \equiv x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\lambda^{\alpha}$ for antiholomorphic ones. In practice, however, using

$$x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{b}{2a}\lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{a}x_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}}\lambda^{\beta}x_{\beta\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad (5.3)$$

⁶Interpretation of plane waves as intertwining kernels was used in [62, 63] to derive plane-wave solutions for massive scalar and massive spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ fields in AdS₄.

we encounter only three different structures

$$x_{\alpha\dot{\mu}}\bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\mu}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\lambda^{\beta}x_{\beta\dot{\gamma}_{1}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{2}}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{2h}}+\dots,\qquad\lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{1}}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{2h}},\qquad x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{1}}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}_{2h}},\qquad(5.4)$$

which are, clearly, linearly independent. In (5.4) the omitted terms for the first structure make the expression symmetric in $\dot{\gamma}_i$.

The equation associated with the first spinor structure reads

$$\frac{\partial d}{\partial a} = -\frac{i}{2}d,\tag{5.5}$$

for which the solution is

$$d(a,b) = g(b)e^{-\frac{i}{2}a}.$$
(5.6)

With (5.6) taken into account, the equation for the second structure is satisfied identically. Finally, considering the last structure, we find

$$\left(1+\frac{b}{8R^2}\right)\frac{dg}{db} = \frac{1+h}{8R^2}g.$$
(5.7)

Within the class of genuine functions, the solution to the above equation is

$$g(t) = C_1 \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2} \right)^{1+h}.$$
 (5.8)

From the analysis of section 8 it will be clear that plane waves associated with solution (5.8) are not sufficient to generate all amplitudes consistent with symmetries. To be able to reproduce the missing amplitudes, one should also consider distributional solutions to (5.7). Namely, this equation can also be solved as

$$g(t) = C_{11} \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2} \right)_+^{1+h} + C_{12} \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2} \right)_-^{1+h},$$
(5.9)

where $x_+ \equiv x\theta(x)$ and $x_- \equiv -x\theta(-x)$. Indeed, (5.7) can be brought to the form

$$xf'(x) = \lambda f(x). \tag{5.10}$$

In the class of distributions, for λ being not a negative integer (5.10) has the general solution [64]

$$f(x) = C_1 x_+^{\lambda} + C_2 x_-^{\lambda}.$$
(5.11)

Discontinuity of solutions at x = 0 is related to the fact that the higher-derivative term of the differential equation vanishes at this point.

Collecting everything together, we have found the following two independent planewave solutions so far

$$F_{\dot{\alpha}_{1}...\dot{\alpha}_{2h}}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{i}} = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_{1}}...\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_{2h}} \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)_{+}^{1+h} e^{ipx},$$

$$F_{\dot{\alpha}_{1}...\dot{\alpha}_{2h}}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{o}} = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_{1}}...\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_{2h}} \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)_{-}^{1+h} e^{ipx}.$$
(5.12)

Here label r refers to the fact that these solutions are *regular* in the space-time, while labels i or o refer to the support of the solutions — that is to the inner or to the outer patches. Along with these solutions, one can consider⁷

$$F_{\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_{2h}}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{g}} = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_1}\dots\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_{2h}} \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)^{1+h} e^{ipx},$$
(5.13)

which is supported on the global patch. It is worth stressing, however, that for fermionic fields the analytic continuation across the interface between the patches is ambiguous due to the presence of square roots. Both these continuations are equally consistent with the analysis of symmetries we performed above.

Besides (5.1), one can consider other ways to saturate homogeneity degrees in spinor variables required by the helicity constraint. Another way that leads to a solution is

$$F_{\gamma_1\dots\gamma_{2h}}(x,\lambda,\bar{\lambda}) = (x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_1}\dots(x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_{2h}}d(a,b).$$
(5.14)

Again, we get three independent spinorial structures, which give us three scalar equations. First, considering the equation for the structure

$$(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\lambda_{\gamma_1}(x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_2}\dots(x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_{2h}}+\dots$$
(5.15)

we find

$$b\frac{\partial d}{\partial a} = 4R^2 id, \tag{5.16}$$

which, in the class of genuine functions, gives

$$d(a,b) = g(b)\exp\left(i\frac{4R^2}{b}a\right).$$
(5.17)

With (5.17) taken into account, the equation for

$$\lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_1}\dots(x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_{2h}} \tag{5.18}$$

is trivially satisfied. Finally, the equation for

$$x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_1}\dots(x\bar{\lambda})_{\gamma_{2h}} \tag{5.19}$$

leads to

$$\left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2}\right)\frac{dg}{db} = -\frac{h}{8R^2}g - \frac{2h+1}{b}g.$$
(5.20)

Again, focusing on solutions given by genuine functions, we find

$$g(t) = C_2 b^{-1-2h} \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2} \right)^{1+h}.$$
 (5.21)

In the distributional sense, solution (5.17), (5.21) is valid everywhere away from singular points of the equations. These are b = 0 and $b = -8R^2$, where higher derivative terms

⁷Solution $F^{r|g}$ was found in [65] using different methods. It is also implicitly present in the twistor literature [66, 67].

in (5.16), (5.20) vanish. As in the example we considered before, one may expect that this solution can be truncated to domains, separated by these singularities. However, the fact that the solution is itself singular at b = 0 further complicates the analysis. Namely, to solve (5.16), (5.20) in the distributional sense, one has to carefully define the associated distributions by integrating them against test functions and properly regularizing them. Then one should study how derivatives act on these distributions and, finally, solve the equations. We leave this analysis for future research. For now, we will write the solution as

$$g(t) = C_{21} b^{-h} \left(1 + \frac{8R^2}{b} \right)_{+}^{1+h} + C_{22} b^{-h} \left(1 + \frac{8R^2}{b} \right)_{-}^{1+h}.$$
 (5.22)

The solutions of the second type are then given by

$$F_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{2h}}^{\mathbf{s}|\mathbf{i}} = \frac{(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha_{1}}\dots(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha_{2h}}}{(x^{2})^{h}} \left(1 - \frac{4R^{2}}{x^{2}}\right)_{+}^{1+h} e^{ipx\frac{4R^{2}}{x^{2}}},$$

$$F_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{2h}}^{\mathbf{s}|\mathbf{o}} = \frac{(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha_{1}}\dots(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha_{2h}}}{(x^{2})^{h}} \left(1 - \frac{4R^{2}}{x^{2}}\right)_{-}^{1+h} e^{ipx\frac{4R^{2}}{x^{2}}}.$$
(5.23)

Here the label s refers to the fact that the solutions are singular at $x^2 = 0$. One can also consider their linear combination of the form

$$F_{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2h}}^{\mathbf{s}|\mathbf{g}} = \frac{(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha_1}\dots(x\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha_{2h}}}{(x^2)^h} \left(1 - \frac{4R^2}{x^2}\right)^{1+h} e^{ipx\frac{4R^2}{x^2}}.$$
 (5.24)

Again, due to the presence of square roots, analytic continuation across the interfaces is ambiguous for fermionic fields.

Note that the inversion

$$x^{\mu} \leftrightarrow x^{\mu} \frac{4R^2}{x^2} \tag{5.25}$$

maps singular and regular solutions to each other, at least, for $x^2 < 0$, see appendix B for details. It is easy to see that when translated to ambient space terms, the inversion acts as the reflection with respect to the origin.

Flat space limit of (5.12), (5.13), (5.23), (5.24) is straightforward. In particular, $F^{r|i}$ and $F^{r|g}$ reduce to the familiar flat space plane waves when $R \to \infty$. Let us also note another relation with the flat plane-wave solutions. Massless representations are known to be conformally invariant in four dimensions [68–70]. So is their description in terms of fields strengths, while the description in terms of potentials breaks the conformal invariance except for the spin one case. Considering that anti-de Sitter space is conformally equivalent to the Minkowski space, one can anticipate that upon dressing the solutions for field strengths in flat space with the appropriate powers of the conformal factor one should produce the associated solutions in AdS. This is exactly what we observe in (5.13): $F^{r|g}$ is given by the flat space solution times a certain power of the conformal factor, see (4.4).

6 Plane waves for potentials

In the present section we will study plane-wave solutions for potentials associated with the field strengths found in the previous section. For simplicity, we will focus on solutions of the type $F^{r|g}$. Other solutions can be found similarly.

To find the potentials, we will consider the AdS counterparts of (2.10) and (2.18), take F to be equal to $F^{r|g}$ and then solve these equations for φ . As in flat space, this procedure allows us to define the potentials up to the gauge freedom. This gauge freedom can be fixed in many different ways and our goal is to fix it in a way that mimics the flat-space spinor-helicity gauge (2.12), (2.20) as closely as possible.

As we reviewed in section 2.1, the spinor-helicity gauge has three remarkable properties: the potentials in this gauge are traceless, divergence-free and transverse to a given null vector. One can easily suggest natural generalizations of each of these conditions to AdS space. However, a simple inspection shows, that the resulting conditions in AdS space cannot be satisfied simultaneously.

Having tried various possibilities, we found it most natural to keep the condition of transversality to a given null vector intact, that is

$$q^b \varphi_{ba_2\dots a_h} = 0, \qquad q^b \varphi_{\alpha|ba_2\dots a_h} = 0 \tag{6.1}$$

for bosonic and fermionic fields respectively. There is a couple of reasons to do that. The main one is that the gauge condition (6.1) can always be achieved and, moreover, fixes the gauge completely.⁸ Another reason is that the transversality of the polarization vector to an auxiliary null vector that can be chosen arbitrarily — in particular, as a momentum of a particle, appearing on one of the other external lines — is an inherent feature of the spinor-helicity formalism in flat space and it makes computations of higher-point amplitudes more efficient. Thus, we will require (6.1) in AdS space as well and refer to it as the spinor-helicity gauge.

In the remaining part of this section we solve for the q-transverse plane wave potentials with spin up to two. Spin-0 and spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ cases are trivial as the potentials coincide with the field strengths. Due to conformal invariance, the analysis of the spin-1 case is identical to that in flat space. The remaining spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ and spin-2 cases turn out to be non-trivial.

6.1 Spin 1

As a warmup exercise, let us consider the spin-1 case. In AdS space the spin-1 gauge transformation is

$$\delta A_{\mu} = \nabla_{\mu} \xi = \partial_{\mu} \xi \tag{6.2}$$

and the associate gauge-invariant field strength reads

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}A_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}.$$
(6.3)

From (5.13) we can see that the AdS field strength F_{ab} is equal to the flat one times G^2 . Then, converting its local Lorentz indices to the space-time ones, we find that $F_{\mu\nu}$ in AdS space is identically equal to the field strength in flat space. So, we can solve (6.3) as in flat space, that is

$$A_{\mu} = -\frac{i}{2} \frac{(\sigma_{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \mu_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}}{\mu^{\beta} \lambda_{\beta}} e^{ipx}, \qquad A_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = i \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right) \frac{\mu_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}}{\mu^{\beta} \lambda_{\beta}} e^{ipx}.$$
(6.4)

⁸This is the case when the appropriate boundary conditions are imposed at infinity. Otherwise, there is a residual symmetry, which will be discussed below.

6.2 Spin $\frac{3}{2}$

There are two spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ potentials that we will denote $\psi_{\nu|\alpha}$ and $\bar{\psi}_{\nu|\dot{\alpha}}$. Their gauge transformations are given by

$$\delta\psi_{\nu|\alpha} = \nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\alpha} \pm \frac{1}{2R}e_{\nu|\alpha}{}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\xi}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad \delta\bar{\psi}_{\nu|\dot{\alpha}} = \nabla_{\nu}\bar{\xi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \pm \frac{1}{2R}e_{\nu|\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}. \tag{6.5}$$

The associated field strengths are

$$F_{\mu\nu|\alpha} = \nabla_{\mu}\psi_{\nu|\alpha} \pm \frac{1}{2R}e_{\mu|\alpha}{}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\psi}_{\nu|\dot{\alpha}} - (\nu \leftrightarrow \mu)$$

$$\bar{F}_{\mu\nu|\dot{\alpha}} = \nabla_{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{\nu|\dot{\alpha}} \pm \frac{1}{2R}e_{\mu|\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\alpha}\psi_{\nu|\alpha} - (\nu \leftrightarrow \mu).$$

(6.6)

As usual, both (6.5) and (6.6) can be found by making the most general ansatze involving no more than one derivative and fixing coefficients by requiring gauge invariance of field strengths. The sign ambiguity can be absorbed by a redefinition of the frame field. In what follows we will consider (6.5), (6.6) with the plus sign.

6.2.1 Fixing an ansatz

In the spinor language the transversality condition (6.1) for ψ and $\bar{\psi}$ reads

$$\mu^{\beta}\bar{\mu}^{\dot{\beta}}\psi_{\beta\dot{\beta}|\alpha} = 0, \qquad \mu^{\beta}\bar{\mu}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\psi}_{\beta\dot{\beta}|\dot{\alpha}} = 0.$$
(6.7)

We are going to look for helicity $-\frac{3}{2}$ solution, which constrains the homogeneity degrees of both ψ and $\bar{\psi}$ in λ and $\bar{\lambda}$ according to (2.3), (2.4). Moreover, neither the on-shell value of F nor operations involved in (6.6) depend on μ and $\bar{\mu}$. This implies that ψ and $\bar{\psi}$ may only have homogeneity degrees zero in both μ and $\bar{\mu}$. These considerations together fix the ansatz for the potentials to be

$$\psi_{\beta\dot{\beta}|\alpha} = k_1 \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} \lambda_{\beta} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}}{[\mu\lambda]} + k_2 \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} \mu_{\beta} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}}{[\mu\lambda] \langle \mu x \lambda]} + k_3 \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} \mu_{\beta} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}}{\langle \mu x \lambda]^2} \langle \mu \lambda \rangle + k_4 \frac{\mu_{\alpha} \lambda_{\beta} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}}{[\mu\lambda] \langle \mu x \lambda]} + k_5 \frac{\mu_{\alpha} \mu_{\beta} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}}{[\mu\lambda] \langle \mu x \lambda]^2} + k_6 \frac{\mu_{\alpha} \mu_{\beta} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}}{\langle \mu x \lambda]^3} \langle \mu \lambda \rangle$$
(6.8)

for ψ and

$$\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\beta}\beta|\dot{\alpha}} = l_1 \frac{\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} \mu_{\beta}}{\langle \mu x \lambda \rangle^3} \langle \mu \lambda \rangle^2 + l_2 \frac{\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}} \mu_{\beta}}{[\mu \lambda]} \frac{\langle \mu \lambda \rangle}{\langle \mu x \lambda \rangle^2} + l_3 \frac{\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}} \lambda_{\beta}}{[\mu \lambda]} \frac{\langle \mu \lambda \rangle}{\langle \mu x \lambda]} + l_4 \frac{\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} \mu_{\beta}}{[\mu \lambda]} \frac{\langle \mu \lambda \rangle}{\langle \mu x \lambda]^2} + l_5 \frac{\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}} \mu_{\beta}}{[\mu \lambda]^2 \langle \mu x \lambda]} + l_6 \frac{\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}} \lambda_{\beta}}{[\mu \lambda]^2}$$
(6.9)

for $\overline{\psi}$. Here k_i and l_i are yet to be determined functions

$$k_i = k_i(a, b, c), \qquad l_i = l_i(a, b, c)$$
(6.10)

of a and b defined in (2.7) and

$$c \equiv \frac{x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\mu^{\alpha}\bar{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}}}{\mu^{\beta}\lambda_{\beta}\bar{\mu}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}}.$$
(6.11)

All these variables have vanishing helicities and homogeneity degrees in μ and $\bar{\mu}$. It is not hard to show that all other scalar variables satisfying this property can be expressed in terms of a, b and c.

6.2.2 Solving for potentials

The strategy of the derivation of ψ and $\overline{\psi}$ is now straightforward. Namely, we take the ansatz (6.8), (6.9) for the potentials, evaluate the associated field strengths and equate them to a regular solution in global AdS space for $h = -\frac{3}{2}$, (5.13). To be more precise, after translating field strengths (6.6) to the local Lorentz frame and converting the result to spinors, we should obtain

$$F_{\beta\gamma|\alpha} = \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma} \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2}\right)^{\frac{5}{2}} e^{-i\frac{a}{2}}, \qquad F_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}|\alpha} = 0,$$

$$\bar{F}_{\beta\gamma|\dot{\alpha}} = 0, \qquad \qquad \bar{F}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}|\dot{\alpha}} = 0.$$
 (6.12)

Considering that $F_{\beta\gamma|\alpha}$ is symmetric in β and γ , it has six independent components. The same refers to $F_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}|\alpha}$, $F_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}|\dot{\alpha}}$ and $F_{\beta\gamma|\dot{\alpha}}$. Hence, in total the field strength has twenty-four components. As for the potentials, we use λ , $\bar{\lambda}$, μ and $\bar{\mu}$ as a basis for tensor structures. To obtain the contribution associated with each individual structure one can contract an expression with the appropriate combination of spinors, that annihilates all structures except a given one. For example, contraction with $\mu^{\alpha}\mu^{\beta}\mu^{\gamma}$ annihilates all components of $F_{\beta\gamma|\alpha}$ except the one, proportional to $\lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}$.

Proceeding along these lines, (6.12) gives twenty-four differential equations for twelve unknown functions k_i and l_i of three variables a, b and c, which then should be solved. This computation is straightforward, but tedious. We give it in some detail in appendix C, while here we only quote the result. Namely, we find that a particular solution for the potential is given by (6.8), (6.9) with

$$k_{1} = -i\sqrt{1 + \frac{b}{8R^{2}}} \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^{2}} - \frac{1}{2R^{2}}ic\right)e^{-\frac{ia}{2}},$$

$$k_{4} = -\frac{1}{4R^{2}}(b - 2ac)\sqrt{1 + \frac{b}{8R^{2}}}e^{-\frac{ia}{2}},$$

$$l_{6} = \frac{1}{R}\sqrt{1 + \frac{b}{8R^{2}}}e^{-\frac{ia}{2}}$$
(6.13)

and other coefficient functions vanishing. The general solution of (6.12) is given by (6.13) plus the general solution of the homogeneous equation, that is when the field strength is identically zero. Obviously, the latter solution corresponds to residual gauge transformations (6.5) for the gauge condition (6.7). As we demonstrate in appendix C, these have different functional dependence on a, b and c compared to (6.13), in particular, they do not allow exponential dependence on a. Based on these considerations we make our choice of the particular solution (6.13) of the inhomogeneous equation.

Finally, we note that the solution that we found, in fact, satisfies a stronger condition than (6.7), namely,

$$\bar{\mu}^{\dot{\beta}}\psi_{\beta\dot{\beta}|\alpha} = 0, \qquad \bar{\mu}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\psi}_{\beta\dot{\beta}|\dot{\alpha}} = 0.$$
(6.14)

The same is also true in flat space. Given that (6.14) does not involve μ , it makes sense to expect that the potentials do not depend on μ at all, while they still may depend on $\bar{\mu}$.

Indeed, trading the holomorphic spinor basis $\{\lambda_{\alpha}, \mu_{\alpha}\}$ for $\{\lambda_{\alpha}, (x\lambda)_{\alpha}\}$, we find

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\beta\dot{\beta}|\alpha} &= -\left(i\left(1+\frac{b}{8R^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} + \frac{1}{4R^2}\frac{b}{a}\left(1+\frac{b}{8R^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)e^{-i\frac{a}{2}}\frac{\lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}}{[\mu\lambda]} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2R^2}\frac{1}{a}\left(1+\frac{b}{8R^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{-i\frac{a}{2}}\frac{x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}}{[\mu\lambda]^2}\langle\mu x\lambda], \end{split}$$
(6.15)
$$\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\beta}\beta|\dot{\alpha}} &= \frac{1}{R}\left(1+\frac{b}{8R^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{-i\frac{a}{2}}\frac{\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}\lambda_{\beta}}{[\mu\lambda]^2}. \end{split}$$

6.3 Spin 2

To find the helicity-2 potential we proceed in a similar manner. The gauge transformations are given by

$$\delta h_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\mu} \tag{6.16}$$

and the gauge-invariant field strength is

$$F_{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = \nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\mu}h_{\nu\lambda} - \nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\nu}h_{\mu\lambda} - \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\mu}h_{\nu\rho} + \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\nu}h_{\mu\rho} - \frac{1}{R^{2}}\left(g_{\nu\lambda}h_{\mu\rho} - g_{\nu\rho}h_{\mu\lambda} - g_{\mu\lambda}h_{\nu\rho} + g_{\mu\rho}h_{\nu\lambda}\right).$$
(6.17)

Next, we make the most general ansatz for the potentials in the spinor form that satisfies

$$\mu^{\beta}\bar{\mu}^{\dot{\beta}}h_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}} = 0 \tag{6.18}$$

and has the appropriate homogeneity degrees in λ , $\bar{\lambda}$, μ and $\bar{\mu}$. This gives

$$\begin{split} h_{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} &= k_1 \frac{\mu_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle^2} + k_2 \frac{\mu_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta}(\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} + \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}})}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle^2\langle\lambda x\mu]} + k_3 \frac{\mu_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle^2\langle\lambda x\mu]^2} \\ &+ k_4 \frac{(\mu_{\alpha}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta} + \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}\mu_{\beta}\lambda_{\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}})}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle\langle\lambda x\mu]^2} [\mu\lambda] + k_5 \frac{\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}(\mu_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta} + \mu_{\beta}\lambda_{\alpha})}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle\langle\lambda x\mu]^3} [\mu\lambda] \\ &+ k_6 \frac{\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}\lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}}{\langle\lambda x\mu]^4} [\mu\lambda]^2 \end{split}$$
(6.19)

with k_i being arbitrary functions of a, b and c.

Then we evaluate the field strength (6.17) for this ansatz and require that all its components are vanishing except

$$\bar{F}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\delta}}\left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)^3 e^{ipx}.$$
(6.20)

The solution is then defined up to a residual gauge freedom that we fix in the same way as for the spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ case. Finally, as in the spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ case we find that the solution, actually, satisfies

$$\mu^{\beta}h_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}} = 0 \tag{6.21}$$

and that the $\bar{\mu}$ dependence can be entirely eliminated. The end result is

$$h_{\alpha\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}} = -\left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2} - \frac{i}{2R^2}\frac{b}{a}\right)e^{-i\frac{a}{2}}\frac{\mu_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta}\lambda_{\dot{\alpha}}\lambda_{\dot{\beta}}}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle^2} - \frac{i}{2R^2}\frac{1}{a}e^{-i\frac{a}{2}}\frac{\mu_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta}(\lambda^{\gamma}x_{\gamma\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} + \lambda^{\gamma}x_{\gamma\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}})}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle^3}\langle\mu x\lambda]$$
(6.22)

Further details of this analysis are given in appendix **D**.

6.4 Higher-spin potentials

A method of derivation of the plane-wave solutions in terms of potentials we employed above was straightforward, but tedious. Further generalizations of our results to the higher-spin case along the same lines are possible, but are expected to be even more complex, especially, due to the complicated form of the field strengths in AdS space, see e.g. [71]. At the same time, simple form of plane-wave solutions for the potentials that we obtained in the lowerspin case suggests that there could be alternative and more economical approaches to a given problem.

For example, one may attempt to construct higher-spin potentials from lower-spin ones by applying helicity-changing operators. To be more precise, by making an ansatz for the most general operator with the right index structure and homogeneity degrees in λ , $\bar{\lambda}$, μ and $\bar{\mu}$ and requiring that it commutes with $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, one should be able to construct an operator that raises or lowers helicity of the potential by one. Then, by applying such operators multiple times to known potentials, one can generate a potential of any given helicity. One can further simplify this analysis by taking into account our observation that the dependence on one of the reference spinors drops out. The idea of helicity-changing operators will be successfully applied to generate three-point amplitudes in section 9. Explicit analysis of the helicity-changing operators for the potentials will be given elsewhere.

Finally, we mention that in a different gauge a somewhat implicit solution for the potentials associated with plane waves $F^{r|g}$ was given in [65].

7 Scattering amplitudes from space-time integrals

In anti-de Sitter space tree-level scattering amplitudes can be defined as the classical action evaluated on the solutions to the linearized equations of motion. The solutions of the linearized equations that we will be using in this computation are the plane waves that we derived in the previous section. This definition of amplitudes in AdS space can be regarded as a straightforward generalization of the associated definition in flat space. It is also related to the holographic amplitudes computed by Witten diagrams by a mere change of a basis for the states appearing on external lines. In the following we will focus on amplitudes involving regular plane-wave solutions. All integrals that we will encounter will be of the following type [64]

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{i}} &\equiv \int d^{4}x \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)_{+}^{\lambda} e^{ipx} \\ &= 2^{\lambda+6} \Gamma(\lambda+1)\pi i R^{4} \left[e^{-i\pi(\lambda-\frac{1}{2})} \frac{K_{\lambda+2}(-2iR(p^{2}+i0)^{\frac{1}{2}})}{(-2iR(p^{2}+i0)^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\lambda+2}} - \text{c.c.} \right], \\ \mathcal{I}_{\lambda}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{o}} &\equiv \int d^{4}x \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)_{-}^{\lambda} e^{ipx} \\ &= 2^{\lambda+6} \Gamma(\lambda+1)\pi i R^{4} \left[e^{i\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{K_{\lambda+2}(-2iR(p^{2}+i0)^{\frac{1}{2}})}{(-2iR(p^{2}+i0)^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\lambda+2}} - \text{c.c.} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(7.1)

where c.c. denote complex conjugated terms. This formula is valid for all λ except negative integers, for which the above integrals diverge. Somewhat formally, these integrals can be evaluated as

$$\mathcal{I}_{\lambda}^{r|i} = (2\pi)^4 \left(1 + \frac{\Box_p}{4R^2} \right)_{+}^{\lambda} \delta^4(p), \quad \mathcal{I}_{\lambda}^{r|o} = (2\pi)^4 \left(1 + \frac{\Box_p}{4R^2} \right)_{-}^{\lambda} \delta^4(p), \tag{7.2}$$

which is the result of performing the Fourier transform according to a rule $x^2 \to -\Box_P$. We will be primarily interested in the case of λ being non-negative integer, $\lambda = n$. Then one can show that the formal computation

$$\mathcal{I}_{n}^{r|g} = \mathcal{I}_{n}^{r|i} + (-1)^{n} \mathcal{I}_{n}^{r|o} = (2\pi)^{4} \left(1 + \frac{\Box_{p}}{4R^{2}}\right)^{n} \delta^{4}(p),$$
(7.3)

is consistent with the rigorous formula (7.1), once the right-hand sides of (7.1) are understood as distributions and appropriately regularized [64].

7.1 Simple examples

In this section we evaluate a number of amplitudes, which, in effect, do not require the knowledge of the potentials in AdS space and for that reason can be computed easily.

Scalar self-interactions. Consider a theory of a scalar field φ with self-interaction

$$S_n = \frac{1}{n!} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \varphi^n.$$
(7.4)

We would like to compute the contact *n*-point diagram. Substituting regular global plane-wave solutions (5.13) with helicity zero and computing the integral with the aid of (7.1)-(7.3), we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{g}} = \mathcal{I}_{n-4}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{g}}.\tag{7.5}$$

Similarly, for regular plane-wave solutions supported on the inner and outer patches we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{i}} = \mathcal{I}_{n-4}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{i}}, \qquad \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{o}} = \mathcal{I}_{n-4}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{o}}.$$
(7.6)

As it was noted before, singular solutions are related to regular ones by the inversion. Making the associated change of variables, one can compute amplitudes that involve only singular plane-wave solutions. In particular, one finds that

$$\mathcal{A}_n^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{g}} = \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathbf{s}|\mathbf{g}}.\tag{7.7}$$

Similar relations hold for other patches. Amplitudes involving simultaneously regular and singular solutions are harder to compute.

Interactions involving field strengths. Consider a theory with a vertex

$$S_3 = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \varphi \bar{F}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \bar{F}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} + \text{c.c.}$$
(7.8)

Proceeding in a similar manner, for an antiholomorphic three-point amplitude on different patches we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{r|i} = [23]^{2} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{r|i}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{3}^{r|o} = [23]^{2} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{r|o}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{3}^{r|g} = [23]^{2} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{r|g}$$
(7.9)

and similarly for the complex conjugate part. This example can be straightforwardly extended in two ways: to include higher-spin field strengths and to increase the number of fields in a vertex. Computation of amplitudes in all these examples is similar.

Yang-Mills theory. The Yang-Mills theory is classically conformally invariant, so one may expect that its amplitudes, at least at tree-level, are identical to those in flat space.⁹ Indeed, making the computation for lower-point cases, we find that all conformal factors cancel out and the AdS result coincides with the flat one. In particular, for the three-point amplitude we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{r}|\mathrm{g}} = \frac{[12]^{3}}{[23][31]} \mathcal{I}_{0}^{\mathrm{r}|\mathrm{g}}$$
(7.10)

and, similarly, for its complex conjugate.

7.2 Genuine three-point amplitudes

In the present section we will study more complicated examples. The interaction vertices we will consider cannot be written in terms of field strengths, nor are they conformally invariant. Our goal here is to illustrate the genuine AdS spinor-helicity machinery, that is relevant for amplitudes that do not involve internal propagators.

⁹The validity of this statement certainly depends on issues such as the choice of labelling of the AdS plane-wave solutions and the choice of the AdS patch we integrate over. As we mentioned before, $F^{r|g}$ differ from the standard plane-wave solutions in the Minkowski space by a certain power of the conformal factor. These conformal factors eventually go away for amplitudes in conformal theories. For other labelings and patches the result is different.

7.2.1 Spin $0 - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{2}$ amplitude

Below we consider the AdS space version of the flat space computation presented in section 2.2. The AdS deformation of vertex (2.22) is given by

$$S_3 = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\psi_{\mu|\alpha} \nabla^{\mu} \chi^{\alpha} \phi - \psi_{\mu|\alpha} \chi^{\alpha} \nabla^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{2R} \bar{\psi}_{\mu|\dot{\alpha}} e^{\mu|\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\alpha} \chi^{\alpha} \phi \right) + \text{c.c.}$$
(7.11)

It is straightforward to check that it is invariant with respect to spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ gauge transformations (6.5), once the free equations of motion are taken into account

$$\left(\Box + \frac{2}{R^2}\right)\phi \approx 0,$$

$$e^{\mu|\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\nabla_{\mu}\chi_{\alpha} \approx 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \left(\Box + \frac{3}{R^2}\right)\chi^{\alpha} \approx 0.$$
(7.12)

Interaction vertex (7.11) is present in gauged supergravities [72].

It is easy to see that (7.11) cannot be expressed in terms of field strengths. Indeed, on-shell the only non-vanishing component of the field strength for ψ carries three spinor indices that have nothing to be contracted with. One can also see that (7.11) is not conformally invariant simply by counting scaling dimensions. Hence, none of the simplifications encountered before take place in a given example and we have to deal with the full-fledged AdS spinor-helicity machinery.

Now we move on to the evaluation of the amplitude. First we plug explicit expressions for the metric, frame field and connections of the background geometry into (7.11). This yields

$$S_{3} = \int d^{4}x \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)^{-4} \left[-\left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right) \psi^{\beta\dot{\beta}|\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta\dot{\beta}}} \chi_{\alpha} \phi + \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right) \psi^{\beta\dot{\beta}|\alpha} \chi_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta\dot{\beta}}} \phi - \frac{1}{8R^{2}} \psi^{\gamma\dot{\gamma}|}{}_{\gamma} x_{\beta\dot{\gamma}} \chi^{\beta} \phi \qquad (7.13)$$
$$- \frac{1}{8R^{2}} \psi^{\gamma\dot{\gamma}|\alpha} x_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}} \chi_{\gamma} \phi - \frac{1}{2R} \bar{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\alpha|\dot{\alpha}} \chi^{\alpha} \right] + \text{c.c.}$$

Next, we substitute plane-wave solutions (6.15). A somewhat lengthy computation gives

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{r|g}} &= -\int d^{4}x e^{ipx} \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right)^{-1} [\mu 1]^{-2} \\ & \left[\frac{i}{2} \left(i \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right) + \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}p_{1}x}\right) \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right) \langle 12 \rangle [\mu 1] (\langle 12 \rangle [\mu 2] - \langle 13 \rangle [\mu 3]) \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{i}{2} \frac{1}{4R^{2}p_{1}x} \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right) \langle 2x1] \langle 1x\mu] (\langle 12 \rangle [\mu 2] - \langle 13 \rangle [\mu 3]) \right. \\ & \left. + \langle 12 \rangle \langle 1x\mu] [\mu 1] \left(-\frac{i}{4R^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right) - \frac{x^{2}}{32R^{4}p_{1}x}\right) \right. \\ & \left. - \frac{1}{32R^{4}p_{1}x} \langle 2x1] \langle 1x\mu]^{2} - \frac{1}{16R^{4}} \langle 2x\mu] \langle 1x\mu] \right]. \end{aligned}$$

One can evaluate the x integral in (7.14) by a formal replacement $x \to -i\partial_p$. The result can then be regarded as the AdS counterpart of (2.24). However, to avoid derivatives in the denominator, we keep the integral in the form (7.14) and proceed with further simplifications.

Our goal is to make manipulations analogous to (2.25) in flat space. To this end we need to understand how the momentum conservation (2.26) translates to AdS space. First, we note a trivial identity

$$-\frac{2}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}e^{ipx} = (\lambda_{1\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{1\dot{\alpha}} + \lambda_{2\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{2\dot{\alpha}} + \lambda_{3\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{3\dot{\alpha}})e^{ipx}.$$
(7.15)

Now, suppose, we would like to eliminate $|2\rangle|2|$ in favor of $|1\rangle|1|$ and $|3\rangle|3|$ as in flat space. In order to do that we just use

$$\lambda_{2\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{2\dot{\alpha}}e^{ipx} = \left(-\lambda_{1\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{1\dot{\alpha}} - \lambda_{3\alpha}\bar{\lambda}_{3\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{2}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}\right)e^{ipx}.$$
(7.16)

Then the last term on the right-hand side of (7.16) needs to be integrated by parts, thus differentiating the remaining part of the integrand. In flat space, due to translation invariance this contribution vanishes. Instead, in AdS space we have an explicit x-dependence, which results into additional non-trivial terms.

With this clarified, we proceed as in section 2.2, except that we use the general formula (7.16) when the momentum conservation needs to be used. Namely, to eliminate $[\mu 2]$ in the numerators of the second and the third lines of (7.14), we multiply the expression by $\langle 23 \rangle / \langle 23 \rangle$ and then integrate $|2\rangle |2]$ by parts using (7.16). Similar manipulations are then done with terms involving $[\mu 3]$.

The remaining terms are simplified using the Schouten identities, see (A.10). In particular, in a given computation the following identities are used

$$\langle 2x\mu]\langle 1x1] - \langle 2x1]\langle 1x\mu] + \frac{1}{2}x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}[\mu 1]\langle 12\rangle = 0,$$

$$\langle 12\rangle\langle 3x\mu] + \langle 1x\mu]\langle 23\rangle - \langle 13\rangle\langle 2x\mu] = 0.$$

(7.17)

Eventually, one finds

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{r}|\mathrm{g}}\left(-\frac{3}{2},-\frac{1}{2},0\right) = \int d^{4}x \left(1-\frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}}\right) \frac{\langle 12\rangle^{2}\langle 31\rangle}{\langle 23\rangle} e^{ipx} = \frac{\langle 12\rangle^{2}\langle 31\rangle}{\langle 23\rangle} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}|\mathrm{g}}.$$
 (7.18)

A similar result holds for the complex conjugate amplitude. As we will see in the next section, (7.18) is consistent with so(3,2) covariance. This serves as a check of spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ potentials we found before.

7.2.2 Spin 0 - 0 - 2 amplitude

Another example that we consider here is a cubic vertex that originates from the minimal coupling of a scalar field to gravity, see e.g. [73],

$$S_3 = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} h_{\mu\nu} j^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (7.19)$$

where

$$j_{\mu\nu} = 2(\nabla_{\mu}\phi)(\nabla_{\nu}\phi) - 2\phi(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi) - \frac{3}{R^2}g_{\mu\nu}\phi^2,$$
(7.20)

 $h_{\mu\nu}$ denotes the fluctuation of gravitational field around the AdS background $g_{\mu\nu}$ and ϕ is a scalar field. This vertex is not conformally invariant, neither it can be written in terms of field strengths. Hence, we have to deal with all the technicalities of a genuine spinor-helicity computation.

The analysis proceeds along the same lines as in the previous section. By substituting the plane-wave solutions and explicit expressions for the background geometry, we find

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{r}|\mathrm{g}} &= \frac{1}{4} \int d^{4}x e^{ipx} \\ & \left[\left(\frac{i}{2R^{2}} \frac{x^{2}}{p_{3}x} + \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}} - 1 \right) \frac{1}{\langle \mu 3 \rangle^{2}} \left(\langle \mu 1 \rangle^{2} [31]^{2} + \langle \mu 2 \rangle^{2} [32]^{2} - 2 \langle \mu 1 \rangle \langle \mu 2 \rangle [31] [32] \right) \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{i}{R^{2}} \left(\frac{i}{2R^{2}} \frac{x^{2}}{p_{3}x} + \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}} - 1 \right) \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}} \right)^{-1} \frac{\langle \mu x 3 \rangle \langle \mu 1 \rangle [31] + \langle \mu x 3 \rangle \langle \mu 2 \rangle [32]}{\langle \mu 3 \rangle^{2}} \\ & \left. - \frac{1}{2R^{4}} \left(\frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}} - 1 \right) \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}} \right)^{-2} \frac{\langle \mu x 3]^{2}}{\langle \mu 3 \rangle^{2}} \\ & \left. + \frac{i}{2R^{2}} \frac{\langle \mu x 3]}{p_{3}x \langle \mu 3 \rangle^{3}} \left(\langle \mu 1 \rangle^{2} \langle 3x1] [31] + \langle \mu 2 \rangle^{2} \langle 3x2] [32] \\ & \left. - \langle \mu 1 \rangle \langle \mu 2 \rangle \langle 3x1] [32] - \langle \mu 1 \rangle \langle \mu 2 \rangle \langle 3x2] [31] \right) \right. \\ & \left. - \frac{1}{4R^{4}} \left(1 - \frac{x^{2}}{4R^{2}} \right)^{-1} \frac{\langle \mu x 3]}{p_{3}x \langle \mu 3 \rangle^{3}} \left(x^{2} \langle 3\mu \rangle \langle \mu 1 \rangle [31] \right. \\ & \left. + \langle \mu 1 \rangle \langle \mu x3] \langle 3x1] + x^{2} \langle 3\mu \rangle \langle \mu 2 \rangle [32] + \langle \mu 2 \rangle \langle \mu x3] \langle 3x2] \right) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Next, using integration by parts, we trade $\langle \mu 1 \rangle$ and $\langle \mu 2 \rangle$ in the numerators for $\langle \mu 3 \rangle$ as in section 7.2.1. Along the way we used the Schouten identities

$$2p_{3}x\langle\mu x1] + x^{2}\langle\mu 3\rangle[31] + \langle\mu x3]\langle 3x1] = 0,$$

$$2p_{3}x\langle\mu x2] - x^{2}\langle\mu 3\rangle[23] + \langle\mu x3]\langle 3x2] = 0,$$

$$\langle 3x3][12] + \langle 3x1][23] + \langle 3x2][31] = 0,$$

$$\langle\mu x3][12] + \langle\mu x1][23] + \langle\mu x2][31] = 0.$$

(7.22)

Eventually, after a lengthy computation, we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{g}}(0,0,2) = -(2\pi)^{4} \frac{[23]^{2}[31]^{2}}{[12]^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{\Box_{P}}{4R^{2}}\right) \delta^{4}(p) = -\frac{[23]^{2}[31]^{2}}{[12]^{2}} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{\mathbf{r}|\mathbf{g}}.$$
 (7.23)

A similar result holds for the complex conjugate amplitude. As for the previous amplitude, (7.23) together with the analysis of the next section serves as a non-trivial consistency test of our formula for the spin-2 potential.

It would be interesting to extend the results of this section to the case of truncated potentials, that is to the potentials associated with the solutions of the type $F^{r|i}$ and $F^{r|o}$ in (5.12). In this case, the amplitudes involve integrations over a patch of the AdS space

and, as a result, one may expect that integrations by parts give rise to additional boundary terms, which, in turn, may prevent the dependence on reference spinors from cancelling out. Though, AdS covariance of vertices and potentials that we employ suggests that this does not happen, it would be interesting to verify this explicitly.

8 Three-point amplitudes from symmetries

In the previous section we computed several simple amplitudes in AdS_4 using the spinorhelicity representation. In this section we will consider constraints imposed on three-point amplitudes purely from symmetry considerations. Our goal is to obtain a classification of three-point amplitudes analogous to that reviewed in section 2.3.

To start, we remark that as in flat space, Lorentz invariance can be made manifest by contracting all spinor indices in a Lorentz-covariant manner. Next, we consider constraints imposed by requiring fixed helicities h_i on external lines, (2.35). They can be solved as

$$\mathcal{A}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = [12]^{d_{12,3}} [23]^{d_{23,1}} [31]^{d_{31,2}} f(x, y, z), \tag{8.1}$$

where

$$x \equiv [12]\langle 12 \rangle, \quad y \equiv [23]\langle 23 \rangle, \quad z \equiv [31]\langle 31 \rangle$$
(8.2)

and d's were defined in (2.37). What remains is to require invariance with respect to deformed translations, that is

$$\left(\mathcal{P}_{1\mid\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}_{2\mid\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}_{3\mid\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\right)\mathcal{A}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = 0.$$
(8.3)

This analysis is technically involved, so here we will just review the key steps, while further details can be found in appendix **E**.

Invariance with respect to deformed translations (8.3) gives four second order differential equations for one unknown function f of three variables, see (E.4). We were not able to find a systematic approach to solve them. Still, from direct computations of amplitudes in the previous section, one can anticipate that

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm I}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = [12]^{d_{12,3}} [23]^{d_{23,1}} [31]^{d_{31,2}} \mathcal{I}_{h-1}^{\rm r|i},$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm II}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = [12]^{d_{12,3}} [23]^{d_{23,1}} [31]^{d_{31,2}} \mathcal{I}_{h-1}^{\rm r|o},$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm III}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = \langle 12 \rangle^{-d_{12,3}} \langle 23 \rangle^{-d_{23,1}} \langle 31 \rangle^{-d_{31,2}} \mathcal{I}_{-h-1}^{\rm r|i},$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm IV}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = \langle 12 \rangle^{-d_{12,3}} \langle 23 \rangle^{-d_{23,1}} \langle 31 \rangle^{-d_{31,2}} \mathcal{I}_{-h-1}^{\rm r|o},$$
(8.4)

gives four solutions to (8.3), which are, moreover, linearly independent. In this context, \mathcal{I} 's should be understood in the form (7.1) with $p^2 = -(x + y + z)$. Next, we managed to show that (8.3) do not have any other solutions in the class of genuine functions than those presented in (8.4).

To do that we consider an arbitrary non-singular point (x_0, y_0, z_0) — a point for which coefficients of higher-derivative terms in the equations do not vanish. Then, we consider equations (8.3) together with their derivatives and regard them as algebraic equations, expressing higher derivatives of f at (x_0, y_0, z_0) in terms of lower ones. The goal is to find how much of the initial data one has to specify at a given point, so that all derivatives of f at this point and, hence, f itself, are completely determined. Proceeding in this manner, one can show that f is uniquely specified by its value at (x_0, y_0, z_0) and by values of its three derivatives. This implies that there are four linearly independent solutions to (8.3), which was to be demonstrated.

This argument is applicable once we are looking for solutions, given by genuine functions. At the same time, we may expect that (8.3) also has distributional solutions. Lorentz invariance imposes constraints on the domain on which these solutions are supported. Considering also constraints from fixed helicities on external lines, an ansatz supported on p = 0 reads

$$\mathcal{A}(h_1, h_2, h_3) = [12]^{d_{12,3}} [23]^{d_{23,1}} [31]^{d_{31,2}} g(\Box_p) \delta(p).$$
(8.5)

Imposing (8.3), we get a differential equation on g, which is a function of one variable. This approach also leads to (8.4), where, \mathcal{I} 's appear in the form (7.2). Further details can be found in appendix E.

To summarize, we find that in AdS_4 once helicities are fixed, symmetry consideration alone leave room for only four consistent three-point amplitudes \mathcal{A}_{I} , \mathcal{A}_{II} , \mathcal{A}_{III} and \mathcal{A}_{IV} given in (8.4). This result differs from the flat space classification discussed in section 2.3 in, essentially, one respect. Namely, the flat space momentum-conserving delta functions in AdS space get replaced with \mathcal{I} 's, for which we have two linearly independent possibilities (7.2) associated with two complementary patches of global AdS space. In addition, it is worth emphasizing that, though, we were able to generate amplitudes of the form \mathcal{A}_{I} , \mathcal{A}_{II} from vertices only when the total helicity h is positive and amplitudes of the form \mathcal{A}_{II} , \mathcal{A}_{IV} when h is negative, all four solutions are consistent with symmetry arguments independently of the value of h. This situation is reminiscent of that in flat space, where to reduce the number of solutions consitent with symmetries from two to one, we had to account for addition considerations, namely, to require smooth limit for real momenta. Similarly, we can rule out \mathcal{A}_{I} , \mathcal{A}_{II} for h < 0 and \mathcal{A}_{III} , \mathcal{A}_{IV} for h > 0 by demanding regular flat limit. Note that these amplitudes are also divergent, which can be seen from the gamma function factor in (7.1).

9 Helicity-changing operators

Once a consistent amplitude is known, one can act on it with operators preserving background covariance, thus, generating other consistent amplitudes. This idea was used to establish relations between amplitudes in different theories in flat space, see e.g. [74-78]. Similar phenomenon takes place for cubic vertices and three-point amplitudes of massless fields of any spin: all of them quite manifestly appear in the form of a seed scalar selfinteraction acted upon by a sequence of differential operators, see e.g. [35, 54, 79-81]. The same idea can also be used to generate more complicated Witten diagrams and conformal correlators from simpler ones [22, 82-85]. In the present section we will demonstrate how this approach can be implemented for three-point amplitudes in AdS₄ in the spinorhelicity representation. We will call operators mapping one AdS_4 spinor-helicity amplitude to another *helicity-changing operators*.

The basic requirement for the helicity-changing operator is that it is Lorentz invariant. Taking into account that the $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ -invariant metric is antisymmetric, one quickly finds that one cannot construct non-trivial helicity-changing operators acting only on one external line. Focusing on the operators acting on two external lines, we construct

$$D_{ij}^{+} \equiv [ij] + \frac{1}{R^2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_{i\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_{j\beta}},$$

$$D_{ij}^{-} \equiv \langle ij \rangle + \frac{1}{R^2} \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}_{i\dot{\alpha}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}_{j\dot{\beta}}}.$$

$$(9.1)$$

These operators are manifestly Lorentz-covariant. Moreover, the relative coefficients between the terms in D's are chosen so that

$$[\mathcal{P}_{i|\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}_{j|\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, D_{ij}^{\pm}] = 0.$$
(9.2)

Property (9.2) ensures that

$$(\dots + \mathcal{P}_{i|\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}_{j|\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \dots)\mathcal{A} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad (\dots + \mathcal{P}_{i|\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}_{j|\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \dots)D_{ij}^{\pm}\mathcal{A} = 0.$$
(9.3)

In other words, once a consistent amplitude \mathcal{A} is available, D's allow us to generate two other consistent amplitudes $D_{ij}^{\pm}\mathcal{A}$. Homogeneity degrees in spinors carried by D_{ij}^{\pm} imply that D_{ij}^{+} raises h_i and h_j by $\frac{1}{2}$, while D_{ij}^{-} lowers them by $\frac{1}{2}$. Operators D_{ij}^{+} and D_{ij}^{-} can be regarded as the AdS counterparts of flat space operators that multiply the amplitude with [ij] and $\langle ij \rangle$ respectively.

Of course, one can apply helicity-changing operators in succession still producing consistent amplitudes. In particular,

$$[D_{ij}^{+}, D_{ij}^{-}] = \frac{2}{R^{2}} (H_{i} + H_{j}),$$

$$[D_{ik}^{+}, D_{jk}^{-}] = \frac{2}{R^{2}} H_{ij}, \qquad i \neq j$$
(9.4)

where H_i was defined in (2.35) and

$$2H_{ij} \equiv \bar{\lambda}_{i\dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\lambda}_{j\dot{\alpha}}} - \lambda_{j\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_{i\alpha}}.$$
(9.5)

By construction, H_{ij} is another helicity-changing operator. It raises h_i by $\frac{1}{2}$ and lowers h_j by $\frac{1}{2}$.

A direct computation shows that

$$D_{12}^{+}\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{I}}(h_{1},h_{2},h_{3}) = \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{I}}\left(h_{1} + \frac{1}{2},h_{2} + \frac{1}{2},h_{3}\right),$$

$$D_{12}^{-}\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{I}}(h_{1},h_{2},h_{3}) = -\frac{1}{R^{2}}(h_{1} + h_{2} - h_{3})(h_{1} + h_{2} + h_{3} - 1)\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{I}}\left(h_{1} - \frac{1}{2},h_{2} - \frac{1}{2},h_{3}\right).$$
(9.6)

Similar expressions can be found for \mathcal{A}_{II} , \mathcal{A}_{III} and \mathcal{A}_{IV} . In other words, we confirm that acting on a consistent three-point amplitude the helicity-changing operators allow us to

generate other consistent amplitudes. This also serves as a consistency check for our derivation of three-point amplitudes using other methods.

Though, we tested the idea of helicity-changing operators for three-point amplitudes only, property (9.2) guarantees that it should be valid for higher-point functions as well. It would be interesting to explore this further in future.

10 Conclusion and outlook

In a recent letter [52] we suggested a natural spinor-helicity formalism in AdS₄ and made first steps in developing it. In particular, we suggested a convenient way of labelling the states appearing on the external lines of amplitudes by $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ spinors. This labelling is defined by AdS₄ plane-wave solutions, which naturally extend the standard plane waves in flat space. With the plane-wave solutions available, we computed several simple amplitudes. Next, we classified all consistent three-point amplitudes by requiring appropriate transformation properties with respect to the AdS₄ isometry algebra so(3, 2).

In the present paper we give technical details and proofs that were omitted in [52]. Moreover, previously, we only found plane-wave solutions for field strengths. In the present paper we proposed the AdS counterpart of the flat spinor-helicity representation for the potentials. The key property of this representation that we kept in AdS space is that the potentials are transversal to an auxiliary light-like vector, see (6.1). Once this gauge is fixed, we solved for the potentials associated with the plane-wave solutions for field strengths we found before. We carried out the analysis for fields of spin up to two. Then we used these potentials to compute amplitudes for more non-trivial vertices. These computations illustrate all technical aspects relevant for the computation of diagrams without internal lines in our approach. Overall, this analysis is very reminiscent to the flat space one, except that in AdS space, due to the absence of translational invariance, the action explicitly depends on coordinates. This modifies the usual momentum conservation — or, equivalently, integration by parts — with extra terms, as well as requires to account for additional Schouten identities, involving space-time coordinates.

The classification of three-point spinor-helicity amplitudes that we obtained is very similar to the flat-space one [54]. In particular, as expected, it contains additional amplitudes compared to those available in the approach that employs Lorentz tensors.¹⁰ This result is also consistent with the analysis in the light-cone gauge [55]. The resulting amplitudes are also very reminiscent of those in flat space: they only differ by what can be regarded as the AdS conformal factor raised to the power, that is defined by helicities on external lines. This suggests that the associated cubic vertices can be made conformally invariant by multiplying them with the appropriate power of the scalar field. It is natural to expect that chiral higher spin theories can be made conformally invariant in the same way. If this is true, one would obtain a new and simple way to relate higher-spin theories in flat and in AdS spaces: by promoting them to a parent conformal theory and then switching between the backgrounds by means of the Weyl transformations. Let us

¹⁰For an incomplete list of references on cubic vertices in AdS, see [86–92]. Conformal three-point correlators of conserved currents were studied in [93, 94].

remind the reader, that the naive flat limit of higher-spin theories in AdS space is singular as the action contains negative powers of the cosmological constant. The approach that we sketched above may be free of this problem.

Another related problem that would be interesting to explore is the following. In [90] the complete cubic action for higher spin theories in AdS was defined from holography. For a vertex with a fixed triplet of spins, one can take the flat space limit smoothly if one first rescales it by the appropriate power of the cosmological constant [95, 96]. Then, in this limit only the highest derivative terms survive. The resulting highest derivative vertex in flat space can be compared to the cubic action derived independently in the light-cone gauge [35]. In [90] it was found that the coupling constants of higher-derivative vertices in AdS_4 and in four-dimensional flat space agree in the above sense.¹¹ The spinorhelicity formalism can be used to extend this analysis beyond the sector of higher-derivative vertices. Indeed, since spin corresponds to a pair of helicities, labeling of amplitudes with helicities is a more refined one than labelling with spins. In particular, for a fixed triplet of helicities we have a single consistent three-point amplitude, which is not the case for a triplet of spins. Using this observation, one can further split an AdS vertex with fixed spins into parts and rescale each part separately with the appropriate power of the cosmological constant, so that each part remains finite in the flat space limit. This would enable us to compare all the cubic action derived from holography and the flat space action in the light-cone gauge. In addition to the approach we suggested in the previous paragraph, this provides another way to relate higher spin theories in flat and AdS space backgrounds. More generally, it would be interesting to carry out the holographic reconstruction of higher-spin theories along the lines of [90, 97, 99], but in the spinor-helicity representation. This may be instructive to learn how the locality obstruction can be circumvented in flat space.

An obvious direction to extend our results is to include higher-point functions. Already for four-point amplitudes at tree level we have two types of processes — contact interactions and exchanges — and it would be interesting to see how this difference manifests itself in the analytic structure of the associated amplitudes. Based on that one may then develop on-shell methods similar to those available in flat space. It would also be interesting to extend other modern methods used for amplitudes' computations to AdS space. One step in this direction we have undertaken in the present paper: in section 9 we introduced helicitychanging operators, which are analogous to transmutation operators in flat space [74]. In this context, it is also worth noting that three-point amplitudes for the Yang-Mills theory and gravity satisfy a form of the double-copy relation [100, 101] in AdS space: a combination of spinor products entering the gravity amplitude is just the square of the analogous factor for the Yang-Mills theory. Similar results were observed for other representations for (A)dS amplitudes and CFT correlators, see [102, 103].

The amplitudes we derived appear to be in the same representation as amplitudes computed using the twistor space techniques, see [104, 105] for a general introduction to twistors and [106–112] for computations of amplitudes of massless fields in AdS_4 space using

¹¹Based on the results for cubic couplings involving two scalar fields obtained in [97], the conjecture that this matching should hold in general was put forward in [98].

this formalism. The reason is that the plane-wave solutions we use for external lines are the same. The difference between our approaches is that we compute amplitudes from the usual space-time action, while in the twistor-space approach the amplitudes are computed from the twistor-space action. From this point of view, our approaches can be regarded as complementary. It is also worth noting that reformulation of the action in the twistor form is not always a simple task and such actions are not always available.

Another related approach was developed in [113-115], where instead of so(3, 2) the whole higher spin symmetry was made manifest. The resulting amplitudes correspond to the scattering of the complete higher-spin multiplets. It would be interesting to decompose them into our basis and, in particular, identify cubic couplings of higher-spin fields in this way. Another closely related approach was recently discussed in [116].

Finally, we comment on the relation of our approach to the usual holography. The main difference between the Witten diagrams and the amplitudes that we compute is that we use plane waves instead of bulk-to-boundary propagators for external lines of the diagrams. Both plane waves and bulk-to-boundary propagators provide a basis for solutions to free equations of motion. However, unlike bulk-to-boundary propagators, plane waves do not give a delta-function in a near-boundary limit, which means that the former should be identified not with local operators, but with operators smeared over the boundary.¹² At the same time, our plane waves have an intuitive flat space limit, which makes this limit also straightforward at the level of amplitudes. In this regard, our plane-wave solutions can be regarded as the scattering states [20, 117–119], suitable for accessing flat-space physics from holography. They may also turn out to be convenient to deal with cosmological correlators upon the appropriate extension to de Sitter space.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank E. Skvortsov for useful comments on the draft. The work of B.N. was supported by the Mitchell/Heep Chair in High Energy Physics. The work of D.P. was supported in part by RSF Grant 18-12-00507.

A Notations and conventions

The Pauli matrices are given by

$$\sigma^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.1)

These can be used to convert a vector index to a pair of spinor ones according to

$$p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \equiv p_a(\sigma^a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}.\tag{A.2}$$

Here and throughout the paper we use Latin letters for Lorentz vector indices, while Greek letters from the beginning of the alphabet are used for spinor indices. Base indices are

¹²It is worth emphasizing another important difference: while we are dealing with the Lorentzian signature, most of the literature on the AdS/CFT correspondence employs the Euclidean signature.

denoted by Greek letters from the middle of the alphabet. In flat space we use Cartesian coordinates, so we do not distinguish between local Lorentz and base indices.

For p null, its spinor representation (A.2) factorizes

$$p^a p_a = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad p_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_\alpha \lambda_{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (A.3)

To raise and lower spinor indices we use the following convention

$$\lambda^{\alpha} = \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \lambda_{\beta}, \qquad \lambda_{\beta} = \epsilon_{\beta\gamma} \lambda^{\gamma}, \tag{A.4}$$

where

$$\epsilon^{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = -\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} = -\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}.$$
 (A.5)

The same rule is used to raise and lower indices of the Pauli matrices.

Relation (A.2) can be inverted to give

$$p_a = -\frac{1}{2} (\sigma_a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (A.6)

To this end one needs to use

$$(\sigma^a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(\sigma_a)_{\beta\dot{\beta}} = -2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}, \qquad (\sigma^a)^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(\sigma_a)^{\beta\beta} = -2\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}. \tag{A.7}$$

It is worth reminding the reader that antisymmetry of the $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ -invariant metric (A.5) leads to somewhat unusual properties of the spinor algebra. For example,

$$\lambda_{\alpha}\psi^{\alpha} = -\lambda^{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha}.\tag{A.8}$$

Clearly, this implies that the product of a spinor with itself vanishes.

From the fact that the space where each spinor takes values is two-dimensional, it follows that antisymmetrization of a tensor with respect to a pair of indices is proprioual to the Levi-Civita tensor. The precise coefficient can be reconstructed by taking the trace of both parts. As a result, we get

$$A_{\alpha\beta} - A_{\beta\alpha} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} A^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma}. \tag{A.9}$$

Another consequence of the fact that the space of spinors is two-dimensional is the Schouten identity

$$\lambda^{\alpha}\mu_{\alpha}\nu_{\beta} + \nu^{\alpha}\lambda_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta} + \mu^{\alpha}\nu_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta} = 0.$$
(A.10)

It follows from (A.9) and the fact that antisymmetrization over three indices in twodimensional space vanishes.

We define derivatives with respect to spinors in a natural way

$$\frac{\partial \lambda^{\alpha}}{\partial \lambda^{\beta}} = \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}, \qquad \frac{\partial \lambda_{\alpha}}{\partial \lambda_{\beta}} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}. \tag{A.11}$$

Then we find that

$$\frac{\partial \lambda_{\alpha}}{\partial \lambda^{\beta}} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \frac{\partial \lambda^{\alpha}}{\partial \lambda_{\beta}} = \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}.$$
 (A.12)

By comparing (A.11) with (A.12), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda^{\alpha}} = -\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_{\beta}},\tag{A.13}$$

which shows that indices of derivatives are lowered with an extra minus sign compared to indices of spinors themselves (A.4). The same refers to raising indices and to antiholomorphic spinors.

The vector-spinor dictionary (A.2), (A.6) can be extended to include tensors of any rank and symmetry. For example, for antisymmetric rank two tensor $C_{ab} = -C_{ba}$ one has

$$C_{\alpha\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}} \equiv C^{ab}(\sigma_a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(\sigma_b)_{\beta\dot{\beta}}.$$
 (A.14)

One can then show that antisymmetry of C^{ab} implies that $C_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}}$ is of the form

$$C_{\alpha\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\bar{C}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} + \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}C_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{A.15}$$

with $C_{\alpha\beta}$ and $\bar{C}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ symmetric. Here

$$C_{\alpha\beta} = C_{\beta\alpha} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\sigma_a)_{\alpha}{}^{\dot{\gamma}} (\sigma_b)_{\beta\dot{\gamma}} C^{ab},$$

$$\bar{C}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \bar{C}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2} (\sigma_a)^{\gamma}{}_{\dot{\alpha}} (\sigma_b)_{\gamma\dot{\beta}} C^{ab}.$$
(A.16)

For real C_{ab} , $C_{\alpha\beta}$ and $\bar{C}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ are complex conjugate to each other. One can invert (A.16), which leads to

$$C_{ab} = \frac{1}{4} (\sigma_a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} (\sigma_b)^{\dot{\beta}\beta} (\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \bar{C}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} + \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} C_{\alpha\beta}).$$
(A.17)

Analogously, more general tensors can be treated, see e.g. [61] for details.

Some other useful formulae in our conventions include

$$(\sigma_a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(\sigma^b)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = -2\delta^b_a, \qquad (\sigma_a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(\sigma^a)^{\beta\beta} = -2\delta^\beta_\alpha\delta^\beta_{\dot{\alpha}}, (\sigma^a)^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}(\sigma^b)_{\beta\dot{\beta}} + (\sigma^b)^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}(\sigma^a)_{\beta\dot{\beta}} = -2\eta^{ab}\delta^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}}.$$
(A.18)

We will often use the standard shorthand notation

$$\langle ij \rangle \equiv \lambda^{i}_{\alpha} \lambda^{j\alpha} = \lambda^{i}_{\alpha} \lambda^{j}_{\beta} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad [ij] \equiv \bar{\lambda}^{i}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}^{j\dot{\alpha}} = \bar{\lambda}^{i}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}^{j}_{\dot{\beta}} \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}, \tag{A.19}$$

where i and j label particles. Moreover, we will also use notations of the following type

$$\langle ixj] \equiv \lambda_i^{\alpha} x_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}_j^{\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad \langle \lambda x\mu] = \lambda^{\alpha} x_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}}. \tag{A.20}$$

B AdS_4 and spinors

In this appendix we give some of the formulae presented in section 3 in terms of spinors.

To start, we note that if

$$(\delta v)^a = \omega^{a,}{}_b v^b \tag{B.1}$$

then

$$(\delta v)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{\omega}_{\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\beta}}v_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}v_{\beta\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad (\delta v)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\omega}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}v^{\dot{\beta}\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}v^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}. \tag{B.2}$$

Here $\omega_{a,b}$ is an antisymmetric tensor and we use the standard vector-spinor dictionary reviewed in appendix A. From (B.2) one can see that the action of an infinitesimal Lorentz transformation in spinor notations decomposes into two pieces each acting only on one type of spinor indices¹³

$$(\delta\lambda)_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\lambda_{\beta}, \qquad (\delta\bar{\lambda})_{\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{\omega}_{\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}.$$
 (B.3)

By raising indices on both sides we can find how Lorentz transformations act on spinors with upper indices.

Compatibility with vector formulae (4.11) then requires that covariant derivatives act on spinor indices as follows

$$\nabla_{\mu}\lambda_{\alpha} = \partial_{\nu}\lambda_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu|\alpha}{}^{\beta}\lambda_{\beta}, \qquad \nabla_{\mu}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \partial_{\mu}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2}\bar{\omega}_{\mu|\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}. \tag{B.4}$$

Similar formulae hold for spinors with upper indices.

Now, let us find the spin connection in spinor notations. We start from (4.14) and convert the antisymmetric pair of indices to spinor ones using the standard dictionary. This gives

$$\omega_{c|\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{4R^2} \left((\sigma_c)_{\alpha}{}^{\dot{\gamma}} x_{\beta\dot{\gamma}} - x_{\alpha}{}^{\dot{\gamma}} (\sigma_c)_{\beta\dot{\gamma}} \right),$$

$$\bar{\omega}_{c|\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \frac{1}{4R^2} \left((\sigma_c)_{\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\gamma} x_{\gamma\dot{\beta}} - x_{\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\gamma} (\sigma_c)_{\dot{\beta}\gamma} \right).$$
(B.5)

In the following, we will find it convenient to convert the remaining Lorentz index to spinors too. This gives

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\gamma\dot{\gamma}|\alpha\beta} &= \frac{1}{2R^2} (\epsilon_{\gamma\alpha} x_{\beta\dot{\gamma}} + \epsilon_{\gamma\beta} x_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}}), \\ \bar{\omega}_{\gamma\dot{\gamma}|\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} &= \frac{1}{2R^2} \left(\epsilon_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\alpha}} x_{\dot{\beta}\gamma} + \epsilon_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\beta}} x_{\dot{\alpha}\gamma} \right). \end{split} \tag{B.6}$$

Finally, we present the spinor version of (4.18)

$$(\delta_{\zeta} P_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \cdot \bar{\lambda})^{\dot{\beta}} = \frac{i}{4R^2} \left(\delta^{\dot{\beta}}_{\dot{\alpha}} x_{\alpha \dot{\gamma}} + \epsilon^{\dot{\beta}\dot{\delta}} x_{\alpha \dot{\delta}} \epsilon_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\alpha}} \right) \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\gamma}}, (\delta_{\zeta} P_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \cdot \lambda)^{\beta} = \frac{i}{4R^2} \left(\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} x_{\gamma \dot{\alpha}} + \epsilon^{\beta \delta} x_{\delta \dot{\alpha}} \epsilon_{\gamma \alpha} \right) \lambda^{\gamma}.$$
 (B.7)

Inversion. The change of coordinates

$$x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} \frac{4R^2}{x^2} \tag{B.8}$$

induces the following action on tangent vectors

$$A^{\prime\mu'}(x') = \frac{\partial x^{\prime\mu'}}{\partial x^{\mu}} A^{\mu}(x).$$
(B.9)

¹³Of course, there is an ambiguity in this decomposition. To be precise, one can add $i\varphi(x)\lambda_{\alpha}$ to $(\delta\lambda)_{\alpha}$ and $-i\varphi(x)\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ to $(\delta\bar{\lambda})_{\dot{\alpha}}$ with $\varphi(x)$ real. This addition drops out from (B.2).

Explicit computation shows that

$$\frac{\partial x'^{\mu'}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \frac{4R^2}{x^2} \left(\delta^{\mu'}_{\mu} - 2\frac{x^{\mu'} x_{\mu}}{x^2} \right).$$
(B.10)

By plugging (B.10) into (B.9) and going to the local Lorentz basis, we get

$$A^{\prime a^{\prime}}(x^{\prime}) = -\left(\delta_{a}^{a^{\prime}} - 2\frac{x^{a^{\prime}}x_{a}}{x^{b}x_{b}}\right)A^{a}(x).$$
(B.11)

This relation can be converted to spinor notations to give

$$A^{\prime\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(x^{\prime}) = -\left(\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\delta^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}} - \frac{x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}x_{\beta\dot{\beta}}}{x^{b}x_{b}}\right)A^{\beta\dot{\beta}}(x) = 2\frac{x^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\beta}}x^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\beta}}{x^{\gamma\dot{\gamma}}x_{\gamma\dot{\gamma}}}A^{\beta\dot{\beta}}(x). \tag{B.12}$$

This action should be factorized into two pieces, each acting only on one type of spinor indices. This gives

$$\lambda^{\alpha} = \sqrt{2} \frac{x^{\alpha}{\dot{\beta}}}{\sqrt{x^{\gamma\dot{\gamma}} x_{\gamma\dot{\gamma}}}} \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}}, \qquad x^{\gamma\dot{\gamma}} x_{\gamma\dot{\gamma}} > 0, \tag{B.13}$$

and the action on holomorphic spinors is obtained by complex conjugation. It is not hard to see that for $x^{\gamma\dot{\gamma}}x_{\gamma\dot{\gamma}} < 0$, (B.12) cannot be factorized into a product of transformations acting on individual spinors so that they remain complex conjugated to each other.

C Details on spin $\frac{3}{2}$ potential

To start, we convert field strengths (6.6) to the spinor notations. To be more precise, each pair of antisymmetric indices in $F_{\mu\nu|\alpha}$ and $\bar{F}_{\mu\nu|\dot{\alpha}}$ should be first transformed to the local Lorentz basis via (4.8) and then converted to spinors using the standard dictionary (A.16). As a result, we get

$$\begin{split} F_{\beta\gamma|\alpha} &= \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta\dot{\epsilon}}} \psi_{\gamma}{}^{\dot{\epsilon}}{}_{|\alpha} + \frac{2}{8R^2} x_{\gamma}{}^{\dot{\delta}} \psi_{\beta\dot{\delta}|\alpha} \\ &+ \frac{1}{8R^2} \left(\epsilon_{\beta\alpha} x^{\dot{\delta}\sigma} \psi_{\gamma\dot{\delta}|\sigma} - x^{\dot{\delta}}{}_{\alpha} \psi_{\gamma\dot{\delta}|\beta}\right) \pm \frac{1}{2R} \epsilon_{\beta\alpha} \bar{\psi}_{\gamma\dot{\delta}|}{}^{\dot{\delta}} + (\beta \leftrightarrow \gamma), \end{split} \tag{C.1}$$
$$\bar{F}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}|\alpha} &= \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\tau\dot{\beta}}} \psi^{\tau}{}_{\dot{\gamma}|\alpha} + \frac{2}{8R^2} x^{\sigma}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \psi_{\sigma\dot{\gamma}|\alpha} \\ &+ \frac{1}{8R^2} \left(x^{\sigma}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \psi_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}|\sigma} + x_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} \psi^{\delta}{}_{\dot{\gamma}|\delta}\right) \pm \frac{1}{2R} \bar{\psi}_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}|\dot{\beta}} + (\dot{\beta} \leftrightarrow \dot{\gamma}). \end{split} \tag{C.2}$$

Making the complex conjugation of (C.1) and (C.2), we find the remaining components of the field strength. To achieve (C.1), (C.2) we needed to use explicit expressions for the frame field and the connection in spinor language, see appendix B. Also note that derivatives are understood as follows

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x^a} f = (\sigma_a)^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}}.$$
 (C.3)

Similarly, one finds a formula for gauge transformations of ψ

$$\delta\psi_{\beta\dot{\beta}|\alpha} = -2\left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)\frac{\partial\xi_{\alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta\dot{\beta}}} - \frac{1}{4R^2}\epsilon_{\beta\alpha}x_{\beta\dot{\gamma}}\xi^{\gamma} - \frac{1}{4R^2}\xi_{\beta}x_{\dot{\beta}\alpha} - \frac{1}{R}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\bar{\xi}_{\dot{\beta}}.$$
 (C.4)

Gauge variations of $\overline{\psi}$ can be obtained by the complex conjugation.

As was explained in the main text, we then make an ansatz (6.8), (6.9) for the potential and evaluate the field strength. The computation turns out to be rather tedious, so we use computer algebra. Then we equate the field strength found to its on-shell value component by component. For example, the equation resulting from setting the $\lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}$ component of the field strength to its on-shell value gives

$$\lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}: \quad \frac{c}{4R^{2}}k_{1} - 4c\left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^{2}}\right)\partial_{b}k_{1} - 2\left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^{2}}\right)\partial_{a}k_{1} = \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^{2}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}e^{-i\frac{a}{2}}.$$
 (C.5)

Similarly, for the $\mu_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}$ component we find

$$\mu_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}: \quad \frac{b-2ac}{4R^2}k_1 - \frac{3c}{4R^2}k_4 - \frac{1}{R}l_3 + 4c\left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2}\right)\partial_b k_4 + 2\left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2}\right)\partial_a k_4 = 0.$$
(C.6)

Equations associated with other 22 components are similar.

To solve these equations, we first consider the homogeneous system, that is when the right-hand sides in (6.12) are absent. In terms of component equations this implies that the right-hand side of (C.5) should be set to zero, while all the remaining equations remain intact. Solutions of these equations, by construction, correspond to pure gauge modes.

To find these pure gauge solutions, we make a general ansatz for gauge parameters, similar to the one we made for potentials

$$\xi_{\alpha} = m_1 \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} \langle \mu \lambda \rangle}{\langle \mu x \lambda]} + m_2 \frac{\mu_{\alpha} \langle \mu \lambda \rangle}{\langle \mu x \lambda]^2},$$

$$\bar{\xi}_{\dot{\alpha}} = n_1 \frac{\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \langle \mu \lambda \rangle^2}{\langle \mu x \lambda]^2} + n_2 \frac{\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}} \langle \mu \lambda \rangle}{\langle \mu x \lambda] [\mu \lambda]}.$$
(C.7)

Here n_i and m_i are arbitrary functions of a, b and c. By making a gauge variation (C.4) and requiring (6.7) — which boils down to the vanishing of the components of ψ along $\lambda_{\beta}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\lambda_{\alpha}$ and $\lambda_{\beta}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\mu_{\alpha}$ — we find two equations for n_i and m_i of residual gauge transformations. By imposing (6.7) for $\bar{\psi}$, we get another two equations. Solving these equations, we find

$$\begin{split} m_1(a,b,c) &= -\frac{m_1^r(c,b-2ac)}{\sqrt{b+8R^2}},\\ m_2(a,b,c) &= -\frac{(b-2ac)m_1^r(c,b-2ac)+2c(b+8R^2)m_2^r(c,b-2ac)+4Rn_1^r(c,b-2ac)}{2c\sqrt{b+8R^2}}\\ n_1(a,b,c) &= \frac{n_1^r(c,b-2ac)}{\sqrt{b+8R^2}},\\ n_2(a,b,c,) &= \frac{2Rm_1^r(c,b-2ac)-n_1^r(c,b-2ac)+c(b+8R^2)n_2^r(c,b-2ac)}{c\sqrt{b+8R^2}}. \end{split}$$
(C.8)

Here m_i^r and n_i^r are four arbitrary functions of two variables c and b - 2ac.

Having clarified how residual gauge transformations act, we proceed with solving equations for the potentials. Inhomogeneous equation (C.5) involves only k_1 and can be solved as follows

$$k_1 = -i\sqrt{1 + \frac{b}{8R^2}} \left(1 + \frac{b}{8R^2} - \frac{1}{2R^2}ic\right)e^{-i\frac{a}{2}} + \sqrt{1 + \frac{b}{8R^2}}r(c, b - 2ac),$$
(C.9)

with r being an arbitrary function of c and b - 2ac. Clearly, the r-term in (C.9) gives a general solution of the homogeneous equation, that is when the right-hand side of (C.5) is set to zero. These solutions should correspond to pure gauge potentials and we checked that, indeed, variation (C.4) with parameters given by (C.7), (C.8) contributes such a term. So, by further fixing the gauge symmetry, we can adjust r in (C.9) in any convenient way. We find it convenient to set r to zero. One reason for that is that r does not allow exponential dependence, $\exp(-ia/2)$, typical of plane waves, instead, featuring a only in combination b - 2ac.

Then we proceed with the remaining equations one after another. These can be solved systematically, as the system of equations admits "lower-triangular form". To be more precise, some of them involve only one unknown function and can be immediately solved like (C.5). Each time we pick a particular solution so that terms without exponential behavior in a are absent. Plugging these solutions into remaining equations we again find equations with only one unknown function and solve them. We proceed like that until all unknown functions are solved for. The end result is given in (6.13)

Finally, we note that the solution (6.8), (6.9), (6.13) satisfies a stronger gauge condition (6.14), which suggests that it is, actually, μ -independent. Using

$$\mu_{\alpha} = \frac{\langle \mu \lambda \rangle}{\langle \lambda x \lambda]} x_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{\langle \mu x \lambda]}{\langle \lambda x \lambda]} \lambda_{\alpha} \tag{C.10}$$

to eliminate μ in the k_4 and employing

$$b - 2ac = -2\frac{\langle\lambda x\mu]\langle\mu x\lambda]}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle[\mu\lambda]} \tag{C.11}$$

we find that, indeed, μ -dependence cancels. The final result is given in (6.15).

D Details on spin 2 potential

Here we give some intermediate results of the computation of the spin-2 potential.

First, we convert both the potential and the field strength to local Lorentz indices and then to spinor ones. For the spin-2 potential the standard dictionary reads

$$h_{ab} = \frac{1}{4} h_{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} (\bar{\sigma}_a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} (\bar{\sigma}_b)^{\dot{\beta}\beta}, \qquad h_{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = (\sigma^a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} (\sigma^b)_{\beta\dot{\beta}} h_{ab}. \tag{D.1}$$

The field strength has the symmetry of a window-shaped Young diagram. Namely, it satisfies

$$F_{ab,cd} = -F_{ab,dc}, \qquad F_{ab,cd} = -F_{ba,cd}, \qquad F_{ab,cd} = F_{cd,ab} \tag{D.2}$$

and the Young symmetry condition. Converting each pair of antisymmetric indices to spinor ones using (A.16), we get

$$\bar{F}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\gamma\delta} = \frac{1}{4} (\sigma^a)^{\beta}{}_{\dot{\alpha}} (\sigma^b)_{\beta\dot{\beta}} (\sigma^c)_{\gamma}{}^{\dot{\delta}} (\sigma^d)_{\delta\dot{\delta}} F_{ab,cd},$$

$$F_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = \frac{1}{4} (\sigma^a)^{\beta}{}_{\dot{\alpha}} (\sigma^b)_{\beta\dot{\beta}} (\sigma^c)^{\delta}{}_{\dot{\gamma}} (\sigma^d)_{\delta\dot{\delta}} F_{ab,cd}$$
(D.3)

and two other field strengths, that can be found by the complex conjugation of (D.3).

By using explicit expressions for the background frame field and the spin connection in our coordinates, after a lengthy computation we find

$$\begin{aligned} F_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} &= \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)^2 \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \epsilon^{\gamma\delta} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\gamma}\gamma}} h_{\beta\delta,\dot{\beta}\dot{\delta}} \\ &- \frac{1}{4R^2} \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right) \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\delta}} \epsilon^{\beta\gamma} x^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\gamma}\gamma}} h_{\sigma\beta,\dot{\sigma}\dot{\beta}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\beta}\beta}} h_{\sigma\gamma,\dot{\sigma}\dot{\gamma}}\right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{4R^2} \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right) \left(-2 + x^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma}}\right) \epsilon_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\delta}} \epsilon^{\alpha\gamma} h_{\alpha\gamma,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}} \end{aligned} \tag{D.4}$$

$$-\frac{1}{8R^4}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\delta}}\epsilon_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}}x^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma}x^{\dot{\epsilon}\epsilon}h_{\sigma\epsilon,\dot{\sigma}\dot{\epsilon}} + (\dot{\alpha}\leftrightarrow\dot{\beta}) + (\dot{\gamma}\leftrightarrow\dot{\delta}) + (\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}\leftrightarrow\dot{\beta}\dot{\delta}),$$

$$\bar{F}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\gamma\delta} = \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)^2\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\gamma}\gamma}}h_{\beta\delta,\dot{\beta}\dot{\delta}} - \frac{1}{2R^2}\left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)x^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\alpha}\gamma}}h_{\sigma\delta,\dot{\sigma}\dot{\beta}} + \frac{1}{4R^2}\left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)\left(-2 + x^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma}}\right)h_{\delta\gamma,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} + (\dot{\alpha}\leftrightarrow\dot{\beta}) + (\gamma\leftrightarrow\delta) + (\dot{\alpha}\gamma\leftrightarrow\dot{\beta}\delta)$$
(D.5)

and similarly for the complex conjugate components. Gauge variation in our coordinates reads

$$\delta h_{\alpha\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}} = -2\left(1 - \frac{x^2}{4R^2}\right)\left(\frac{\partial\xi_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}{\partial x^{\dot{\beta}\beta}} + \frac{\partial\xi_{\beta\dot{\beta}}}{\partial x^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}}\right) + \frac{1}{2R^2}\left(2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}(x_{\sigma\dot{\sigma}}\xi^{\dot{\sigma}\sigma}) - x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\xi_{\beta\dot{\beta}} - x_{\beta\dot{\beta}}\xi_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\right).$$
(D.6)

With these explicit formulas at hand, we evaluate field strengths using the ansatz (6.19) for the potential. Then we solve the resulting equations, fixing the residual gauge symmetry as in the spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ case. Eventually, we find

$$h_{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = e^{-i\frac{a}{2}} \left(\frac{8ic-b}{8R^2} - 1\right) \frac{\mu_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle^2} + ie^{-i\frac{a}{2}} \left(\frac{b-2ac}{4R^2}\right) \frac{\mu_{\alpha}\mu_{\beta}(\bar{\mu}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} + \bar{\mu}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}})}{\langle\mu\lambda\rangle^2\langle\lambda x\mu]}.$$
(D.7)

Again, we observe that a stronger condition (6.21) is satisfied. Eliminating μ -dependence, we, finally, get (6.22).

E Details on amplitudes from symmetries

In this appendix we give details on how the deformed momentum conservation condition for the three-point amplitudes (8.3) is analyzed.

First, we consider the case of genuine functions (8.1). Evaluating the action of \mathcal{P} , (3.1), on the ansatz (8.3), we find

$$\begin{pmatrix} D_x f + d_{12,3} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} + D_z f + d_{31,2} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^1_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^1_{\dot{\alpha}} + \begin{pmatrix} D_x f + d_{12,3} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} + D_y f + d_{23,1} \frac{\partial f}{\partial y} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^2_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^2_{\dot{\alpha}} + \begin{pmatrix} D_y f + d_{23,1} \frac{\partial f}{\partial y} + D_z f + d_{31,2} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^3_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^3_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{\langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 31 \rangle} \begin{pmatrix} z \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z \partial y} + d_{31,2} \frac{\partial f}{\partial y} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^1_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^2_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{\langle 31 \rangle}{\langle 23 \rangle} \begin{pmatrix} y \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z \partial y} + d_{23,1} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^2_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^1_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{\langle 31 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} \begin{pmatrix} x \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x \partial z} + d_{12,3} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^2_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^3_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{\langle 12 \rangle}{\langle 31 \rangle} \begin{pmatrix} z \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z \partial x} + d_{31,2} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^3_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^2_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{\langle 12 \rangle}{\langle 23 \rangle} \begin{pmatrix} y \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial y \partial x} + d_{23,1} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^3_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^1_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{\langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} \begin{pmatrix} x \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x \partial y} + d_{12,3} \frac{\partial f}{\partial y} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^1_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^3_{\dot{\alpha}} - R^2 (\lambda^1_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^1_{\dot{\alpha}} + \lambda^2_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^2_{\dot{\alpha}} + \lambda^3_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^3_{\dot{\alpha}}) = 0,$$
 (E.1)

where

$$D_x \equiv x \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x}.$$
 (E.2)

This equation has four independent components. To make this manifest, we use the Schouten identities

$$\lambda_{\alpha}^{3} = \frac{\langle 32 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} \lambda_{\alpha}^{1} + \frac{\langle 31 \rangle}{\langle 21 \rangle} \lambda_{\alpha}^{2},$$

$$\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{3} = \frac{[32]}{[12]} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{1} + \frac{[31]}{[21]} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{2},$$
(E.3)

to eliminate λ^3 and $\bar{\lambda}^3$. Then, the basis is generated by four structures $\lambda^1_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^1_{\dot{\alpha}}$, $\lambda^1_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^2_{\dot{\alpha}}$, $\lambda^2_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^1_{\dot{\alpha}}$ and $\lambda^2_{\alpha} \bar{\lambda}^2_{\dot{\alpha}}$ and (E.1) requires that the coefficient of each structure vanishes. As a result, we end up with four single-component equations

$$D_{x}f + \frac{y}{x}D_{y}f + \left(1 + \frac{y}{x}\right)D_{z}f + 2y\frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial x\partial y} + (d_{12,3} + d_{23,1})\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x} + \frac{y}{x}\frac{\partial f}{\partial y}\right) + d_{31,2}\left(1 + \frac{y}{x}\right)\frac{\partial f}{\partial z} - R^{2}\left(1 + \frac{y}{x}\right)f = 0 D_{x}f + \left(1 + \frac{z}{x}\right)D_{y}f + \frac{z}{x}D_{z}f + 2z\frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial x\partial z} + (d_{12,3} + d_{31,2})\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x} + \frac{z}{x}\frac{\partial f}{\partial z}\right) + d_{23,1}\left(1 + \frac{z}{x}\right)\frac{\partial f}{\partial y} - R^{2}\left(1 + \frac{z}{x}\right)f = 0 \frac{1}{x}D_{y}f + \frac{1}{x}D_{z}f + \frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial x\partial z} + \frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial x\partial y} - \frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial y\partial z} + \frac{d_{31,2}}{z}\frac{\partial f}{\partial x} + \frac{d_{31,2}}{x}\frac{\partial f}{\partial z} + \left(\frac{d_{12,3}}{x} + \frac{d_{23,1}}{x} - \frac{d_{31,2}}{z}\right)\frac{\partial f}{\partial y} - \frac{R^{2}}{x}f = 0 \frac{1}{x}D_{y}f + \frac{1}{x}D_{z}f + \frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial x\partial z} + \frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial x\partial y} - \frac{\partial^{2}f}{\partial y\partial z} + \frac{d_{23,1}}{y}\frac{\partial f}{\partial x} + \frac{d_{23,1}}{x}\frac{\partial f}{\partial y} + \left(\frac{d_{12,3}}{x} + \frac{d_{31,2}}{x} - \frac{d_{23,1}}{y}\right)\frac{\partial f}{\partial z} - \frac{R^{2}}{x}f = 0.$$
(E.4)

Solving these equations may seem a formidable problem. We can, however, use the knowledge gained from direct computations of amplitudes in particular cases in section 7. Let us first consider the amplitudes with holomorphic products of spinors in the prefactor, as in our ansatz (8.1). Then we can anticipate that $\mathcal{A}_{\rm I}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\rm II}$ lead to two independent solution of (E.4). For simplicity, we focus on the domain $p^2 > 0$, so that *i*0-prescription in (7.1) can be ignored. We find that, indeed,

$$f = C_1 \cdot (R^2 w)^{-\frac{\sum h+1}{2}} I_{\sum h+1} (2R\sqrt{w}) + C_2 \cdot (R^2 w)^{-\frac{\sum h+1}{2}} K_{\sum h+1}, (2R\sqrt{w})$$
(E.5)

where

$$w \equiv x + y + z \tag{E.6}$$

solves (E.4).

Similarly, one can consider candidate amplitudes \mathcal{A}_{III} and \mathcal{A}_{IV} . Bringing them to the form (8.1) and focusing on $p^2 > 0$, we find

$$f = C_3 x^{-d_{12,3}} y^{-d_{23,1}} z^{-d_{31,2}} \cdot (R^2 w)^{\frac{\sum h-1}{2}} I_{\sum h+1} (2R\sqrt{w}) + C_4 x^{-d_{12,3}} y^{-d_{23,1}} z^{-d_{31,2}} \cdot (R^2 w)^{\frac{\sum h-1}{2}} K_{\sum h+1} (2R\sqrt{w}).$$
(E.7)

It is straightforward to see that they also solve (E.4).

In total, we found four solutions to (E.4) so far. It is also straightforward to see that these solutions are linearly independent. Now we would like to show that (E.4) do not have other solutions. To see that, we will consider (E.4) in the neighborhood of some regular point (x_0, y_0, z_0) and count how many integration constants have to be specified, to determine all derivatives of f at a given point from (E.4).

To start, we note that by combining the last two equations of (E.4) we can get a first order equation

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \left(d_{23,1} \frac{1}{y} - d_{31,2} \frac{1}{z} \right) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial z} \left(d_{12,3} \frac{1}{x} - d_{23,1} \frac{1}{y} \right) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial y} \left(d_{31,2} \frac{1}{z} - d_{12,3} \frac{1}{x} \right) = 0.$$
(E.8)

This, in turn, can be used to eliminate all z derivatives of f in favor of other derivatives. It turns out that after this is done only two equations from (E.4) are independent. For definiteness, we pick the first two. With z-derivatives eliminated, they acquire the form

$$a_{xx}\partial_{xx}^{2}f + a_{xy}\partial_{xy}^{2}f + a_{yy}\partial_{yy}^{2}f + a_{x}\partial_{x}f + a_{y}\partial_{y}f + af = 0,$$

$$b_{xx}\partial_{xx}^{2}f + b_{xy}\partial_{xy}^{2}f + b_{yy}\partial_{yy}^{2}f + b_{x}\partial_{x}f + b_{y}\partial_{y}f + bf = 0.$$
(E.9)

These equations can be regarded as equations at fixed z. Once these are solved, z-dependence can be reconstructed from (E.8), so we will only focus on (x, y)-dependence.

Let us now regard $\{f, \partial_x f, \partial_y f, \partial_{yy} f\}$ as the initial data at (x_0, y_0, z_0) . Then, we can use (E.9) to solve for $\partial_{xx} f$ and $\partial_{xy} f$ algebraically in terms of the initial data, so these derivatives are not independent. One can explicitly check, that for genuine (x_0, y_0, z_0) the matrix of coefficients of $\partial_{xx} f$ and $\partial_{xy} f$ is non-degenerate, so this is, indeed, possible.

To simplify the analysis, we may focus on solutions of (E.4) up to linear combinations of four linearly independent solutions in (E.5) and (E.7) that we already know. In particular,

by subtracting an appropriate linear combination of the known solutions, we can always achieve

$$\{f, \partial_x f, \partial_y f, \partial_{yy} f\} = \{0, 0, 0, 0\}$$
(E.10)

for new solutions we are looking for. Then (E.9) implies that for solutions with (E.10) satisfied, one also has

$$\{\partial_{xx}f, \partial_{xy}f\} = \{0, 0\}. \tag{E.11}$$

Proceeding further, we consider all consequences of (E.9) obtained by applying one derivative. We get four equations of the form

$$a_{xx}\partial_{xxx}^{3}f + a_{xy}\partial_{xxy}^{3}f + a_{yy}\partial_{xyy}^{3}f + \dots = 0,$$

$$a_{xx}\partial_{yxx}^{3}f + a_{xy}\partial_{yxy}^{3}f + a_{yy}\partial_{yyy}^{3}f + \dots = 0,$$

$$b_{xx}\partial_{xxx}^{3}f + b_{xy}\partial_{xxy}^{3}f + b_{yy}\partial_{xyy}^{3}f + \dots = 0,$$

$$b_{xx}\partial_{yxx}^{3}f + b_{xy}\partial_{yxy}^{3}f + b_{yy}\partial_{yyy}^{3}f + \dots = 0,$$

(E.12)

where ... denotes lower-derivative terms. We find that the matrix of coefficients in front of four highest-derivative terms is non-degenerate for genuine (x_0, y_0, z_0) . Hence, considering (E.10), (E.11), we find that all third-order derivatives of f also vanish.

This analysis should be repeated iteratively for higher orders as well. Differentiating (E.9) n times, we obtain 2(n+1) equations for n+3 derivatives of f of (n+2)'th order. So, for n > 1 the system of equations will be overdetermined. The matrix of coefficients of highest-derivative terms still consists of a's and b's defined by the original equation (E.9). It is not hard to see that it has rank (n+3),¹⁴ so each time highest derivatives of f can be expressed in terms of lower ones and, hence, set to zero. Thus, we find that if (E.10) is imposed, all derivatives of f at (x_0, y_0, z_0) are vanishing. Putting differently, (E.4) has only four solutions given in (E.5) and (E.7).

Let us now consider a distributional ansatz (8.5). Substituting it into (8.3) and simplifying we get

$$[12]^{d_{12,3}}[23]^{d_{23,1}}[31]^{d_{31,2}}\left(p^c + \frac{3+h}{2R^2}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_c} + \frac{1}{2R^2}p^a\frac{\partial}{\partial p^a}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_c} - \frac{1}{4R^2}p^c\Box_p\right)g\left(\Box_p\right)\delta^{(4)}(p) = 0.$$
(E.13)

Commuting p^c trough derivatives to the left gives

$$\left(\left(\Box_p + 4R^2\right)g'(\Box_p) + (1-h)g(\Box_p)\right)\frac{\partial\delta^{(4)}}{\partial p_c} = 0.$$
(E.14)

By requiring the left-hand side to be zero, we get a first order differential equation on g. Solving it, we obtain the amplitude

$$\mathcal{A} = C_1 [12]^{d_{12,3}} [23]^{d_{23,1}} [31]^{d_{31,2}} \left(1 + \frac{\Box_p}{4R^2} \right)_+^{h-1} \delta^{(4)}(p) + C_2 [12]^{d_{12,3}} [23]^{d_{23,1}} [31]^{d_{31,2}} \left(1 + \frac{\Box_p}{4R^2} \right)_-^{h-1} \delta^{(4)}(p).$$
(E.15)

¹⁴To start, it has four independent rows by virtue of non-degeneracy of the matrix in (E.12). Moreover, a simple inspection shows that one can add to these four rows other n - 1 rows, so that each time when we are adding a new row it has a non-zero element in a column, in which previously considered raws had vanishing entires. This ensures that the matrix has n + 3 linearly independent rows.

Analogously, one can find distributional solutions by isolating a prefactor that saturates the homogeneity degrees in spinors required by the helicity constraint with products of undotted spinors.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- S.J. Parke and T.R. Taylor, An Amplitude for n Gluon Scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56 (1986) 2459 [INSPIRE].
- [2] L.J. Dixon, Calculating scattering amplitudes efficiently, in QCD and beyond. Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics, TASI-95, Boulder, U.S.A., 4–30 June 1995, pp. 539–584 (1996) [hep-ph/9601359] [INSPIRE].
- [3] H. Elvang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes, arXiv:1308.1697 [INSPIRE].
- [4] L.J. Dixon, A brief introduction to modern amplitude methods, in Proceedings, 2012 European School of High-Energy Physics (ESHEP 2012), La Pommeraye, Anjou, France, 06–19 June 2012, pp. 31–67 (2014) [DOI] [arXiv:1310.5353] [INSPIRE].
- [5] C. Cheung and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes and Spinor-Helicity in Six Dimensions, JHEP 07 (2009) 075 [arXiv:0902.0981] [INSPIRE].
- [6] S. Caron-Huot and D. O'Connell, Spinor Helicity and Dual Conformal Symmetry in Ten Dimensions, JHEP 08 (2011) 014 [arXiv:1010.5487] [INSPIRE].
- [7] R.H. Boels and D. O'Connell, Simple superamplitudes in higher dimensions, JHEP 06 (2012) 163 [arXiv:1201.2653] [INSPIRE].
- [8] I. Bandos, Britto-Cachazo-Feng-Witten-Type recurrent relations for tree amplitudes of D = 11 supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 031601 [arXiv:1605.00036] [INSPIRE].
- [9] I. Bandos, Spinor frame formalism for amplitudes and constrained superamplitudes of 10D SYM and 11D supergravity, JHEP 11 (2018) 017 [arXiv:1711.00914] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E. Conde and A. Marzolla, Lorentz Constraints on Massive Three-Point Amplitudes, JHEP 09 (2016) 041 [arXiv:1601.08113] [INSPIRE].
- [11] E. Conde, E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, Spinor-Helicity Three-Point Amplitudes from Local Cubic Interactions, JHEP 08 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1605.07402] [INSPIRE].
- [12] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes For All Masses and Spins, arXiv:1709.04891 [INSPIRE].
- [13] R. Jha, C. Krishnan and K.V. Pavan Kumar, Massive Scattering Amplitudes in Six Dimensions, JHEP 03 (2019) 198 [arXiv:1810.11803] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J.M. Maldacena, The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [16] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253
 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].

- [17] D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Correlation functions in the CFT_d/AdS_{d+1} correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 546 (1999) 96 [hep-th/9804058] [INSPIRE].
- [18] H. Liu and A.A. Tseytlin, On four point functions in the CFT/AdS correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 086002 [hep-th/9807097] [INSPIRE].
- [19] E. D'Hoker, D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Graviton exchange and complete four point functions in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 562 (1999) 353 [hep-th/9903196] [INSPIRE].
- [20] I. Heemskerk, J. Penedones, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, Holography from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 10 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0907.0151] [INSPIRE].
- [21] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1011.1485] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M.F. Paulos, Towards Feynman rules for Mellin amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2011) 074 [arXiv:1107.1504] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Unitarity and the Holographic S-matrix, JHEP 10 (2012) 032 [arXiv:1112.4845] [INSPIRE].
- [24] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, Mellin amplitudes for $AdS_5 \times S^5$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 091602 [arXiv:1608.06624] [INSPIRE].
- [25] O. Aharony, L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and E. Perlmutter, Loops in AdS from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 07 (2017) 036 [arXiv:1612.03891] [INSPIRE].
- [26] F. Aprile, J.M. Drummond, P. Heslop and H. Paul, Quantum Gravity from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 01 (2018) 035 [arXiv:1706.02822] [INSPIRE].
- [27] E.Y. Yuan, Simplicity in AdS Perturbative Dynamics, arXiv:1801.07283 [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Albayrak and S. Kharel, Towards the higher point holographic momentum space amplitudes, JHEP 02 (2019) 040 [arXiv:1810.12459] [INSPIRE].
- [29] J.M. Maldacena and G.L. Pimentel, On graviton non-Gaussianities during inflation, JHEP 09 (2011) 045 [arXiv:1104.2846] [INSPIRE].
- [30] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, Cosmological Collider Physics, arXiv:1503.08043 [INSPIRE].
- [31] H. Lee, D. Baumann and G.L. Pimentel, Non-Gaussianity as a Particle Detector, JHEP 12 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1607.03735] [INSPIRE].
- [32] N. Arkani-Hamed, P. Benincasa and A. Postnikov, Cosmological Polytopes and the Wavefunction of the Universe, arXiv:1709.02813 [INSPIRE].
- [33] N. Arkani-Hamed, D. Baumann, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The Cosmological Bootstrap: Inflationary Correlators from Symmetries and Singularities, JHEP 04 (2020) 105 [arXiv:1811.00024] [INSPIRE].
- [34] A.K.H. Bengtsson, A Riccati type PDE for light-front higher helicity vertices, JHEP 09 (2014) 105 [arXiv:1403.7345] [INSPIRE].
- [35] R.R. Metsaev, Poincaré invariant dynamics of massless higher spins: Fourth order analysis on mass shell, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 6 (1991) 359 [INSPIRE].
- [36] R.R. Metsaev, S matrix approach to massless higher spins theory. 2: The Case of internal symmetry, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 6 (1991) 2411 [INSPIRE].

- [37] S. Ananth, Spinor helicity structures in higher spin theories, JHEP 11 (2012) 089 [arXiv:1209.4960] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A.K.H. Bengtsson, Notes on Cubic and Quartic Light-Front Kinematics, arXiv:1604.01974 [INSPIRE].
- [39] D. Ponomarev, Off-Shell Spinor-Helicity Amplitudes from Light-Cone Deformation Procedure, JHEP 12 (2016) 117 [arXiv:1611.00361] [INSPIRE].
- [40] D. Ponomarev and E.D. Skvortsov, Light-Front Higher-Spin Theories in Flat Space, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 095401 [arXiv:1609.04655] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D. Ponomarev, Chiral Higher Spin Theories and Self-Duality, JHEP 12 (2017) 141
 [arXiv:1710.00270] [INSPIRE].
- [42] E.D. Skvortsov, T. Tran and M. Tsulaia, Quantum Chiral Higher Spin Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 031601 [arXiv:1805.00048] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C. Devchand and V. Ogievetsky, Interacting fields of arbitrary spin and N > 4 supersymmetric selfdual Yang-Mills equations, Nucl. Phys. B 481 (1996) 188
 [hep-th/9606027] [INSPIRE].
- [44] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Massless higher spins and holography, Nucl. Phys. B 644 (2002) 303 [Erratum ibid. B 660 (2003) 403] [hep-th/0205131] [INSPIRE].
- [45] I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, AdS dual of the critical O(N) vector model, Phys. Lett. B 550 (2002) 213 [hep-th/0210114] [INSPIRE].
- [46] M.A. Vasiliev, Consistent equation for interacting gauge fields of all spins in (3+1)-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 243 (1990) 378 [INSPIRE].
- [47] M.A. Vasiliev, More on equations of motion for interacting massless fields of all spins in (3+1)-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 285 (1992) 225 [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Giombi and X. Yin, Higher Spin Gauge Theory and Holography: The Three-Point Functions, JHEP 09 (2010) 115 [arXiv:0912.3462] [INSPIRE].
- [49] N. Boulanger, P. Kessel, E.D. Skvortsov and M. Taronna, *Higher spin interactions in four-dimensions: Vasiliev versus Fronsdal*, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 095402
 [arXiv:1508.04139] [INSPIRE].
- [50] V.E. Didenko, O.A. Gelfond, A.V. Korybut and M.A. Vasiliev, Homotopy Properties and Lower-Order Vertices in Higher-Spin Equations, J. Phys. A 51 (2018) 465202
 [arXiv:1807.00001] [INSPIRE].
- [51] V.E. Didenko, O.A. Gelfond, A.V. Korybut and M.A. Vasiliev, Limiting Shifted Homotopy in Higher-Spin Theory and Spin-Locality, JHEP 12 (2019) 086 [arXiv:1909.04876]
 [INSPIRE].
- [52] B. Nagaraj and D. Ponomarev, Spinor-Helicity Formalism for Massless Fields in AdS₄, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (2019) 101602 [arXiv:1811.08438] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. David, N. Fischer and Y. Neiman, Spinor-helicity variables for cosmological horizons in de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 045005 [arXiv:1906.01058] [INSPIRE].
- [54] P. Benincasa and F. Cachazo, Consistency Conditions on the S-matrix of Massless Particles, arXiv:0705.4305 [INSPIRE].
- [55] R.R. Metsaev, Light-cone gauge cubic interaction vertices for massless fields in AdS₄, Nucl. Phys. B 936 (2018) 320 [arXiv:1807.07542] [INSPIRE].

- [56] E. Skvortsov, Light-Front Bootstrap for Chern-Simons Matter Theories, JHEP 06 (2019) 058 [arXiv:1811.12333] [INSPIRE].
- [57] B. de Wit and D.Z. Freedman, Systematics of Higher Spin Gauge Fields, Phys. Rev. D 21 (1980) 358 [INSPIRE].
- [58] D. Francia and A. Sagnotti, Free geometric equations for higher spins, Phys. Lett. B 543 (2002) 303 [hep-th/0207002] [INSPIRE].
- [59] D. Sorokin, Introduction to the classical theory of higher spins, AIP Conf. Proc. 767 (2005) 172 [hep-th/0405069] [INSPIRE].
- [60] X. Bekaert, S. Cnockaert, C. Iazeolla and M.A. Vasiliev, Nonlinear higher spin theories in various dimensions, in Higher spin gauge theories: Proceedings, 1st Solvay Workshop, Brussels, Belgium, 12–14 May 2004, pp. 132–197 (2004) [hep-th/0503128] [INSPIRE].
- [61] V.E. Didenko and E.D. Skvortsov, *Elements of Vasiliev theory*, arXiv:1401.2975 [INSPIRE].
- [62] C. Fronsdal, Elementary particles in a curved space. II, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 589 [INSPIRE].
- [63] C. Fronsdal and R.B. Haugen, Elementary Particles in a Curved Space. 3, Phys. Rev. D 12 (1975) 3810 [INSPIRE].
- [64] I. Gel'fand and G. Shilov, Generalized Functions, Volume 1: Properties and Operations, Academic Press (1964).
- [65] K.I. Bolotin and M.A. Vasiliev, Star product and massless free field dynamics in AdS₄, Phys. Lett. B 479 (2000) 421 [hep-th/0001031] [INSPIRE].
- [66] N.J. Hitchin, Linear field equations on selfdual spaces, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 370 (1980) 173 [INSPIRE].
- [67] M. Plyushchay, D. Sorokin and M. Tsulaia, Higher spins from tensorial charges and OSp(N|2n) symmetry, JHEP 04 (2003) 013 [hep-th/0301067] [INSPIRE].
- [68] G. Mack and I. Todorov, Irreducibility of the ladder representations of u(2,2) when restricted to the Poincaré subgroup, J. Math. Phys. 10 (1969) 2078 [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Mickelsson and J. Niederle, On representations of the conformal group which when restricted to its Poincaré or Weyl subgroups remain irreducible, J. Math. Phys. 13 (1972) 23 [INSPIRE].
- [70] E. Angelopoulos, M. Flato, C. Fronsdal and D. Sternheimer, Massless Particles, Conformal Group and de Sitter Universe, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 1278 [INSPIRE].
- [71] R. Manvelyan and W. Rühl, The Generalized curvature and Christoffel symbols for a higher spin potential in AdS_{d+1} space, Nucl. Phys. B 797 (2008) 371 [arXiv:0705.3528]
 [INSPIRE].
- B. de Wit, Supergravity, in Unity from duality: Gravity, gauge theory and strings.
 Proceedings, NATO Advanced Study Institute, Euro Summer School, 76th session, Les
 Houches, France, 30 July-31 August 2001, pp. 1–135 (2002) [hep-th/0212245] [INSPIRE].
- [73] X. Bekaert and E. Meunier, Higher spin interactions with scalar matter on constant curvature spacetimes: conserved current and cubic coupling generating functions, JHEP 11 (2010) 116 [arXiv:1007.4384] [INSPIRE].
- [74] C. Cheung, C.-H. Shen and C. Wen, Unifying Relations for Scattering Amplitudes, JHEP
 02 (2018) 095 [arXiv:1705.03025] [INSPIRE].

- [75] K. Zhou and B. Feng, Note on differential operators, CHY integrands and unifying relations for amplitudes, JHEP 09 (2018) 160 [arXiv:1808.06835] [INSPIRE].
- [76] M. Bollmann and L. Ferro, Transmuting CHY formulae, JHEP 01 (2019) 180
 [arXiv:1808.07451] [INSPIRE].
- [77] B. Feng, X. Li and K. Zhou, Expansion of Einstein-Yang-Mills theory by differential operators, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 125012 [arXiv:1904.05997] [INSPIRE].
- [78] J.J.M. Carrasco and L. Rodina, UV considerations on scattering amplitudes in a web of theories, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 125007 [arXiv:1908.08033] [INSPIRE].
- [79] A.K.H. Bengtsson, I. Bengtsson and N. Linden, Interacting Higher Spin Gauge Fields on the Light Front, Class. Quant. Grav. 4 (1987) 1333 [INSPIRE].
- [80] R. Manvelyan, K. Mkrtchyan and W. Rühl, General trilinear interaction for arbitrary even higher spin gauge fields, Nucl. Phys. B 836 (2010) 204 [arXiv:1003.2877] [INSPIRE].
- [81] A. Sagnotti and M. Taronna, String Lessons for Higher-Spin Interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 842 (2011) 299 [arXiv:1006.5242] [INSPIRE].
- [82] M.S. Costa, J. Penedones, D. Poland and S. Rychkov, Spinning Conformal Correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 071 [arXiv:1107.3554] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M.S. Costa, J. Penedones, D. Poland and S. Rychkov, Spinning Conformal Blocks, JHEP 11 (2011) 154 [arXiv:1109.6321] [INSPIRE].
- [84] D. Karateev, P. Kravchuk and D. Simmons-Duffin, Weight Shifting Operators and Conformal Blocks, JHEP 02 (2018) 081 [arXiv:1706.07813] [INSPIRE].
- [85] M.S. Costa and T. Hansen, AdS Weight Shifting Operators, JHEP 09 (2018) 040 [arXiv:1805.01492] [INSPIRE].
- [86] E.S. Fradkin and M.A. Vasiliev, Cubic Interaction in Extended Theories of Massless Higher Spin Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 291 (1987) 141 [INSPIRE].
- [87] M.A. Vasiliev, Cubic Vertices for Symmetric Higher-Spin Gauge Fields in $(A)dS_d$, Nucl. Phys. B 862 (2012) 341 [arXiv:1108.5921] [INSPIRE].
- [88] E. Joung and M. Taronna, Cubic interactions of massless higher spins in (A)dS: metric-like approach, Nucl. Phys. B 861 (2012) 145 [arXiv:1110.5918] [INSPIRE].
- [89] N. Boulanger, D. Ponomarev and E.D. Skvortsov, Non-abelian cubic vertices for higher-spin fields in anti-de Sitter space, JHEP 05 (2013) 008 [arXiv:1211.6979] [INSPIRE].
- [90] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Higher Spin Interactions from Conformal Field Theory: The Complete Cubic Couplings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 181602 [arXiv:1603.00022]
 [INSPIRE].
- [91] D. Francia, G.L. Monaco and K. Mkrtchyan, Cubic interactions of Maxwell-like higher spins, JHEP 04 (2017) 068 [arXiv:1611.00292] [INSPIRE].
- [92] M. Karapetyan, R. Manvelyan and R. Poghossian, Cubic interaction for higher spins in AdS_{d+1} space in the explicit covariant form, Nucl. Phys. B 950 (2020) 114876
 [arXiv:1908.07901] [INSPIRE].
- [93] S. Giombi, S. Prakash and X. Yin, A Note on CFT Correlators in Three Dimensions, JHEP 07 (2013) 105 [arXiv:1104.4317] [INSPIRE].

- [94] A. Zhiboedov, A note on three-point functions of conserved currents, arXiv:1206.6370 [INSPIRE].
- [95] N. Boulanger, S. Leclercq and P. Sundell, On The Uniqueness of Minimal Coupling in Higher-Spin Gauge Theory, JHEP 08 (2008) 056 [arXiv:0805.2764] [INSPIRE].
- [96] X. Bekaert, N. Boulanger and P. Sundell, How higher-spin gravity surpasses the spin two barrier: no-go theorems versus yes-go examples, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012) 987
 [arXiv:1007.0435] [INSPIRE].
- [97] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev and C. Sleight, Quartic AdS Interactions in Higher-Spin Gravity from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 11 (2015) 149
 [arXiv:1508.04292] [INSPIRE].
- [98] E.D. Skvortsov, On (Un)Broken Higher-Spin Symmetry in Vector Models, in Proceedings, International Workshop on Higher Spin Gauge Theories, Singapore, Singapore, 4–6 November 2015, pp. 103–137 (2017) [DOI] [arXiv:1512.05994] [INSPIRE].
- [99] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev and C. Sleight, Towards holographic higher-spin interactions: Four-point functions and higher-spin exchange, JHEP 03 (2015) 170 [arXiv:1412.0016] [INSPIRE].
- [100] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, New Relations for Gauge-Theory Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 085011 [arXiv:0805.3993] [INSPIRE].
- [101] Z. Bern, J.J. Carrasco, M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, The Duality Between Color and Kinematics and its Applications, arXiv:1909.01358 [INSPIRE].
- [102] S.Y. Li, Y. Wang and S. Zhou, KLT-Like Behaviour of Inflationary Graviton Correlators, JCAP 12 (2018) 023 [arXiv:1806.06242] [INSPIRE].
- [103] J.A. Farrow, A.E. Lipstein and P. McFadden, Double copy structure of CFT correlators, JHEP 02 (2019) 130 [arXiv:1812.11129] [INSPIRE].
- [104] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, Spinors and Space-Time. Volume 1: Two-Spinor Calculus and Relativistic Fields, Cambridge University Press (1985) [INSPIRE].
- [105] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, Spinors and Space-Time. Volume 2: Spinor and Twistor Methods in Space-Time Geometry, Cambridge University Press (1986) [INSPIRE].
- [106] T. Adamo and L. Mason, Einstein supergravity amplitudes from twistor-string theory, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 145010 [arXiv:1203.1026] [INSPIRE].
- [107] D. Skinner, Twistor strings for $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity, JHEP **04** (2020) 047 [arXiv:1301.0868] [INSPIRE].
- [108] T. Adamo and L. Mason, Conformal and Einstein gravity from twistor actions, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 045014 [arXiv:1307.5043] [INSPIRE].
- [109] T. Adamo, Gravity with a cosmological constant from rational curves, JHEP 11 (2015) 098 [arXiv:1508.02554] [INSPIRE].
- [110] P. Hähnel and T. McLoughlin, Conformal higher spin theory and twistor space actions, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 485401 [arXiv:1604.08209] [INSPIRE].
- [111] T. Adamo, P. Hähnel and T. McLoughlin, Conformal higher spin scattering amplitudes from twistor space, JHEP 04 (2017) 021 [arXiv:1611.06200] [INSPIRE].
- [112] T. Adamo, S. Nakach and A.A. Tseytlin, Scattering of conformal higher spin fields, JHEP 07 (2018) 016 [arXiv:1805.00394] [INSPIRE].

- [113] N. Colombo and P. Sundell, *Higher Spin Gravity Amplitudes From Zero-form Charges*, arXiv:1208.3880 [INSPIRE].
- [114] V.E. Didenko and E.D. Skvortsov, Exact higher-spin symmetry in CFT: all correlators in unbroken Vasiliev theory, JHEP 04 (2013) 158 [arXiv:1210.7963] [INSPIRE].
- [115] O.A. Gelfond and M.A. Vasiliev, Operator algebra of free conformal currents via twistors, Nucl. Phys. B 876 (2013) 871 [arXiv:1301.3123] [INSPIRE].
- [116] Y.O. Goncharov and M.A. Vasiliev, Scattering amplitudes as multi-particle higher-spin charges in the correspondence space, J. Phys. A 52 (2019) 384006 [arXiv:1810.11140]
 [INSPIRE].
- [117] M. Gary, S.B. Giddings and J. Penedones, Local bulk S-matrix elements and CFT singularities, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 085005 [arXiv:0903.4437] [INSPIRE].
- [118] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Scattering States in AdS/CFT, arXiv:1104.2597 [INSPIRE].
- [119] J. Maldacena, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Zhiboedov, Looking for a bulk point, JHEP 01 (2017) 013 [arXiv:1509.03612] [INSPIRE].